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w PART I FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PHILLIPS EDISON & COMPANY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
AS OF MARCH 31, 2020 AND DECEMBER 31, 2019
(Condensed and Unaudited)
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

  March 31, 2020  December 31, 2019

ASSETS      

Investment in real estate:      

Land and improvements $ 1,547,542  $ 1,552,562

Building and improvements 3,201,552  3,196,762

In-place lease assets 441,492  442,729

Above-market lease assets 65,946  65,946

Total investment in real estate assets 5,256,532  5,257,999

Accumulated depreciation and amortization (786,328)  (731,560)

Net investment in real estate assets 4,470,204  4,526,439

Investment in unconsolidated joint ventures 41,904  42,854

Total investment in real estate assets, net 4,512,108  4,569,293

Cash and cash equivalents 36,532  17,820

Restricted cash 48,043  77,288

Goodwill 29,066  29,066

Other assets, net 141,263  128,690

Real estate investment and other assets held for sale —  6,038

Total assets $ 4,767,012  $ 4,828,195

    

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY      

Liabilities:      

Debt obligations, net $ 2,356,401  $ 2,354,099

Below-market lease liabilities, net 108,998  112,319

Earn-out liability 22,000  32,000

Derivative liability 62,756  20,974

Deferred income 13,841  15,955

Accounts payable and other liabilities 109,210  124,054

Total liabilities 2,673,206  2,659,401

Commitments and contingencies (Note 8) —  —

Equity:      

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value per share, 10,000 shares authorized, zero shares issued and      

outstanding at March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 —  —

Common stock, $0.01 par value per share, 1,000,000 shares authorized, 290,416 and 289,047      

shares issued and outstanding at March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively 2,903  2,890

Additional paid-in capital 2,793,803  2,779,130

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (“AOCI”) (58,552)  (20,762)

Accumulated deficit (986,292)  (947,252)

Total stockholders’ equity 1,751,862  1,814,006

Noncontrolling interests 341,944  354,788

Total equity 2,093,806  2,168,794

Total liabilities and equity $ 4,767,012  $ 4,828,195

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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PHILLIPS EDISON & COMPANY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2020 AND 2019
(Condensed and Unaudited)
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

 Three Months Ended March 31,

  2020  2019

Revenues:    

Rental income $ 128,466  $ 128,860

Fees and management income 2,165  3,261

Other property income 892  648

Total revenues 131,523  132,769

Operating Expenses:    

Property operating 21,762  22,866

Real estate taxes 17,112  17,348

General and administrative 10,740  13,285

Depreciation and amortization 56,227  60,989

Impairment of real estate assets —  13,717

Total operating expenses 105,841  128,205

Other:    

Interest expense, net (22,775)  (25,009)

(Loss) gain on disposal of property, net (1,577)  7,121

Other income, net 9,869  7,536

Net income (loss) 11,199 (5,788)

Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (1,430)  593

Net income (loss) attributable to stockholders $ 9,769 $ (5,195)

Earnings per common share:    

Net income (loss) per share attributable to stockholders - basic and diluted (See Note 10) $ 0.03  $ (0.02)

    

Comprehensive loss:    

Net income (loss) $ 11,199  $ (5,788)

Other comprehensive loss:    

Change in unrealized value on interest rate swaps (43,364)  (14,361)

Comprehensive loss (32,165)  (20,149)

Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (1,430)  593

Other comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interests 5,574  1,938

Comprehensive loss attributable to stockholders $ (28,021)  $ (17,618)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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PHILLIPS EDISON & COMPANY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2020 AND 2019
(Condensed and Unaudited)
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

  Common Stock  
Additional Paid-In

Capital

 

AOCI

 

Accumulated Deficit

 
Total Stockholders’

Equity

 
Noncontrolling

Interests

 

Total Equity  Shares  Amount       

Balance at January 1, 2019 279,803 $ 2,798 $ 2,674,871 $ 12,362 $ (692,573)  $ 1,997,458  $ 414,911  $ 2,412,369

Dividend reinvestment plan (“DRIP”) 1,603  16  17,702  —  —  17,718  —  17,718

Share repurchases (605)  (6)  (6,674)  —  —  (6,680)  —  (6,680)

Change in unrealized value on interest
   rate swaps —  —  —  (12,423)  —  (12,423)  (1,938)  (14,361)

Common distributions declared, $0.17
   per share —  —  —  —  (47,972)  (47,972)  —  (47,972)

Distributions to noncontrolling interests —  —  —  —  —  —  (7,167)  (7,167)

Share-based compensation 40  —  227  —  —  227  839  1,066

Conversion of noncontrolling interests 708  7  7,820  —  —  7,827  (7,827)  —

Net loss —  —  —  —  (5,195)  (5,195)  (593)  (5,788)

Balance at March 31, 2019 281,549  $ 2,815  $ 2,693,946  $ (61)  $ (745,740)  $ 1,950,960  $ 398,225  $ 2,349,185

                

Balance at January 1, 2020 289,047  $ 2,890  $ 2,779,130  $ (20,762)  $ (947,252)  $ 1,814,006  $ 354,788  $ 2,168,794

DRIP 1,436  14  15,926  —  —  15,940  —  $ 15,940

Share repurchases (288)  (3)  (2,697)  —  —  (2,700)  —  (2,700)

Change in unrealized value on interest
rate swaps —  —  —  (37,790)  —  (37,790)  (5,574)  (43,364)

Common distributions declared, $0.17
   per share —  —  —  —  (48,809)  (48,809)  —  (48,809)

Distributions to noncontrolling interests —  —  —  —  —  —  (7,105)  (7,105)

Share-based compensation 103  1  140  —  —  141  (290)  (149)

Conversion of noncontrolling interests 118  1  1,304  —  —  1,305  (1,305)  —

Net income —  —  —  —  9,769  9,769  1,430  11,199

Balance at March 31, 2020 290,416  $ 2,903  $ 2,793,803  $ (58,552)  $ (986,292)  $ 1,751,862  $ 341,944  $ 2,093,806

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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PHILLIPS EDISON & COMPANY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2020 AND 2019
(Condensed and Unaudited)
(In thousands)

 Three Months Ended March 31,

  2020  2019

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:      

Net income (loss) $ 11,199  $ (5,788)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:      

Depreciation and amortization of real estate assets 54,817  59,342

Impairment of real estate assets —  13,717

Depreciation and amortization of corporate assets 1,410  1,647

Net amortization of above- and below-market leases (788)  (1,133)

Amortization of deferred financing expenses 1,251  1,297

Amortization of debt and derivative adjustments 1,061  2,227

Loss (gain) on disposal of property, net 1,577  (7,121)

Change in fair value of earn-out liability (10,000)  (7,500)

Straight-line rent (2,288)  (1,713)

Share-based compensation (149)  1,272

Other 707  995

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:      

Other assets, net (14,871)  1,923

Accounts payable and other liabilities (8,313)  (17,921)

Net cash provided by operating activities 35,613 41,244

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:      

Real estate acquisitions (4,319)  —

Capital expenditures (15,965)  (8,574)

Proceeds from sale of real estate 17,447  35,755

Return of investment in unconsolidated joint ventures 424  1,197

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (2,413)  28,378

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:      

Net change in credit facility 34,000  (22,000)

Payments on mortgages and loans payable (32,657)  (2,428)

Distributions paid, net of DRIP (32,792)  (30,132)

Distributions to noncontrolling interests (7,108)  (6,958)

Repurchases of common stock (5,176)  (5,444)

Other —  (206)

Net cash used in financing activities (43,733)  (67,168)

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND RESTRICTED CASH (10,533)  2,454

CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND RESTRICTED CASH:      

Beginning of period 95,108  84,304

End of period $ 84,575  $ 86,758

    

RECONCILIATION TO CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS:    

Cash and cash equivalents $ 36,532  $ 12,684

Restricted cash 48,043  74,074

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of period $ 84,575  $ 86,758
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PHILLIPS EDISON & COMPANY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2020 AND 2019
(Unaudited)
(In thousands)

  2020  2019

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW DISCLOSURE, INCLUDING NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:   

Cash paid for interest $ 20,329  $ 21,679

Right-of-use (“ROU”) assets obtained in exchange for new lease liabilities 551  36

Accrued capital expenditures 3,392  2,095

Change in distributions payable 77  122

Change in distributions payable - noncontrolling interests (3)  209

Change in accrued share repurchase obligation (2,476)  1,236

Distributions reinvested 15,940  17,718

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Phillips Edison & Company, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Condensed and Unaudited)

1. ORGANIZATION

Phillips Edison & Company, Inc. (“we,” the “Company,” “our,” or “us”) was formed as a Maryland corporation in October 2009. Substantially all of our business is conducted
through Phillips Edison Grocery Center Operating Partnership I, L.P., (the “Operating Partnership”), a Delaware limited partnership formed in December 2009. We are a limited
partner of the Operating Partnership, and our wholly owned subsidiary, Phillips Edison Grocery Center OP GP I LLC, is the sole general partner of the Operating Partnership.

We are a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) that invests primarily in well-occupied, grocery-anchored, neighborhood and community shopping centers that have a mix of
creditworthy national, regional, and local retailers that sell necessity-based goods and services in strong demographic markets throughout the United States. In addition to
managing our own shopping centers, our third-party investment management business provides comprehensive real estate and asset management services to three institutional
joint ventures, in which we have a partial ownership interest, and one private fund (collectively, the “Managed Funds”).

As of March 31, 2020, we wholly-owned 285 real estate properties. Additionally, we owned a 20% equity interest in Necessity Retail Partners (“NRP”), a joint venture that owned
seven properties; a 15% interest in Grocery Retail Partners I LLC (“GRP I”), a joint venture that owned 17 properties; and a 10% interest in Grocery Retail Partners II LLC (“GRP
II”), a joint venture that owned three properties.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Set forth below is a summary of the significant accounting estimates and policies that management believes are important to the preparation of our consolidated interim financial
statements. Certain of our accounting estimates are particularly important for an understanding of our financial position and results of operations and require the application of
significant judgment by management. For example, significant estimates and assumptions have been made with respect to the useful lives of assets, recoverable amounts of
receivables, and other fair value measurement assessments required for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. As a result, these estimates are subject to a
degree of uncertainty.

During the first quarter of 2020, a novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) began spreading globally, with the outbreak being classified as a pandemic by the World Health Organization
on March 11, 2020. Because of the adverse economic conditions that exist as a result of the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, it is possible that the estimates and
assumptions that have been utilized in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements could change significantly. Specifically as it relates to our business, the current
economic situation has resulted in temporary tenant closures at our shopping centers, often as a result of “stay-at-home” government mandates which limit travel and movement
of the general public to essential activities only and require all non-essential businesses to close. These mandates could result in increased permanent retail store closings
nationally if the duration of the closures is prolonged. This could reduce the demand for leasing space in our shopping centers and result in a decline in occupancy and rental
revenues in our real estate portfolio. All of this activity impacts our estimates around the collectability of revenue and valuation of real estate assets, goodwill and other intangible
assets, and certain liabilities, among others.

There were no changes to our significant accounting policies during the three months ended March 31, 2020. For a full summary of our accounting policies, refer to our 2019
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 11, 2020.

Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation—The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) for interim financial information and with instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly,
they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by GAAP for complete financial statements. Readers of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q should refer to our
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019, which are included in our 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K. In the opinion of management,
all normal and recurring adjustments necessary for the fair presentation of the unaudited consolidated financial statements for the periods presented have been included in this
Quarterly Report. Our results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2020 are not necessarily indicative of the operating results expected for the full year.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include our accounts and those of our majority-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions are
eliminated upon consolidation.

Income Taxes—Our consolidated financial statements include the operations of wholly owned subsidiaries that have jointly elected to be treated as Taxable REIT Subsidiaries
(“TRS”) and are subject to U.S. federal, state, and local income taxes at regular corporate tax rates. During the three months ended March 31, 2020, an immaterial amount of
federal income tax benefit was reported, and we recorded a full valuation allowance for our net deferred tax asset. We recorded no income tax expense or benefit for the three
months ended March 31, 2019. We recognized an immaterial amount of state and local income tax expense for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, which is
included in Other Income, Net on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss (“consolidated statements of operations”).
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Recently Issued and Newly Adopted Accounting Pronouncements—The following table provides a brief description of newly adopted accounting pronouncements and their
effect on our consolidated financial statements:

Standard  Description  Date of Adoption  Effect on the Financial Statements or Other
Significant Matters

Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-13,
Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326):
Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial
Instruments

ASU 2018-19, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses
(Topic 326): Codification Improvements

ASU 2019-05, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses
(Topic 326): Targeted Transition Relief
ASU 2019-11, Codification Improvements to Topic
326, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses

ASU 2020-02, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses
(Topic 326) and Leases (Topic 842)

 

The amendments in this update replaced the incurred loss
impairment methodology in current GAAP with a methodology
that reflects expected credit losses and requires consideration
of a broader range of reasonable and supportable information
to inform credit loss estimates. It clarified that receivables
arising from operating leases are not within the scope of
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 326. Instead,
impairment of receivables arising from operating leases will be
accounted for in accordance with Topic 842. It also allowed
election of the fair value option on certain financial
instruments.

 

January 1, 2020

 

The adoption of this standard did not have
a material impact on our consolidated
financial statements. The majority of our
financial instruments result from operating
lease transactions, which are not within the
scope of this standard.

ASU 2018-17, Consolidation (Topic 810): Targeted
Improvements to Related Party Guidance for Variable
Interest Entities

 

This ASU amended two aspects of the related-party guidance
in Topic 810: (1) added an elective private-company scope
exception to the variable interest entity guidance for entities
under common control and (2) indirect interests held through
related parties in common control arrangements will be
considered on a proportional basis for determining whether
fees paid to decision makers and service providers are
variable interests.  

January 1, 2020

 

The adoption of this standard did not have
a material impact on our consolidated
financial statements.

ASU 2019-04, Codification Improvements to Topic
326, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses, Topic
815, Derivatives and Hedging, and Topic 825,
Financial Instruments

 

This ASU amended a variety of topics, improving certain
aspects of previously issued ASUs, including ASU 2016-01,
Financial Instruments-Overall (Subtopic 825-10): Recognition
and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities,
ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic
326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments,
and ASU 2017-12, Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815):
Targeted Improvements to Accounting for Hedging Activities.  

January 1, 2020

 

The adoption of this standard did not have
a material impact on our consolidated
financial statements.

ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848):
Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform
on Financial Reporting

 

This ASU contains practical expedients for reference rate
reform related activities that impact debt, leases, derivatives
and other contracts. The guidance in ASU 2020-04 is optional
and may be elected over time as reference rate reform
activities occur.

 

March 12, 2020

 

We have elected to apply the hedge
accounting expedients related to probability
and the assessments of effectiveness for
future LIBOR-indexed cash flows to
assume that the index upon which future
hedged transactions will be based matches
the index on the corresponding derivatives.
Application of these expedients preserves
the presentation of derivatives consistent
with past presentation. We continue to
evaluate the impact of the guidance and
may apply other elections as applicable as
additional changes in the market occur.

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the FASB issued interpretive guidance addressing the accounting treatment of lease concessions stemming from the pandemic. Under
this guidance, entities may make an election to account for lease concessions granted in conjunction with the pandemic consistent with how those concessions would be
accounted for under ASC Topic 842, Leases (“ASC 842”) if those enforceable rights and obligations for those concessions already existed within the lease agreement. This
accounting treatment may be applied regardless of whether enforceable rights and obligations for those concessions are explicitly outlined within the lease. As a result, entities
that make this election will not have to analyze each lease to determine whether enforceable rights and obligations for concessions exist within the contract, and may elect not to
account for these concessions as lease modifications within the scope of ASC 842. We will continue to assess the potential impact of this accounting treatment. As of May 11,
2020, we had not yet made any such concessions.
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Reclassifications—The following line item on our consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2019 was reclassified to conform to current year presentation:

• Corporate Intangible Assets, Net was included in Other Assets, Net.

The following line items on our consolidated statements of cash flows for the three months ended March 31, 2019 were reclassified to conform to current year presentation:

• Amortization of Debt and Derivative Adjustments was listed on a separate line from Other Cash Flows from Operating Activities; and

• Equity in Net Loss of Unconsolidated Joint Ventures was combined with Other Cash Flows from Operating Activities.

3. LEASES

Lessor—The majority of our leases are largely similar in that the leased asset is retail space within our properties, and the lease agreements generally contain similar provisions
and features, without substantial variations. All of our leases are currently classified as operating leases. Lease income related to our operating leases was as follows for the
three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 (dollars in thousands):

 March 31, 2020  March 31, 2019

Rental income related to fixed lease payments $ 98,335  $ 97,586

Rental income related to variable lease payments 31,838  30,527

Other(1) (1,707)  747

Total rental income $ 128,466  $ 128,860

(1) Amounts consist of amortization of above- and below-market lease intangibles, lease inducements, revenue adjustments related to changes in collectability, settlement income, and lease buyout
income.

Approximate future fixed contractual lease payments to be received under non-cancelable operating leases in effect as of March 31, 2020, assuming no new or renegotiated
leases or option extensions on lease agreements, are as follows (in thousands):

Year Amount

Remaining 2020 $ 281,778
2021 341,849
2022 305,829
2023 257,200
2024 201,367
Thereafter 537,322

Total $ 1,925,345

No single tenant comprised 10% or more of our aggregate annualized base rent (“ABR”) as of March 31, 2020. As of March 31, 2020, our real estate investments in Florida and
California represented 12.3% and 10.5% of our ABR, respectively. As a result, the geographic concentration of our portfolio makes it particularly susceptible to adverse weather
or economic events, including the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, in the Florida and California real estate markets. As of May 11, 2020, there were approximately 210 and
170 tenant spaces temporarily closed as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic in Florida and California, respectively.

States have issued “stay-at-home” orders that have resulted in temporary business closures but have exempted businesses providing essential goods and services from these
mandatory closures. While the definition of what constitutes an essential business and related guidelines vary between different states and municipalities, as it pertains to our
portfolio, we believe this generally includes grocers and supermarkets, healthcare providers and pharmacies, banks, gas stations, automotive repair shops, pet stores,
laundromats, and other businesses offering goods and services that would similarly be considered critical for a functional society and life-sustaining activities. Even among those
that are considered to be essential, many businesses have seen sharp decreases in foot traffic and customer patronage as a result of “stay-at-home” mandates and social
distancing guidelines. State mandates have continued to evolve from the initial closures in late March, with certain states implementing “stay-at-home” orders in April, and other
states beginning to ease restrictions in late April and early May. As of March 31, 2020, we believe tenants comprising approximately 51% of our portfolio’s ABR are considered
essential retail businesses and services. In addition to these essential retail businesses and services, restaurants, comprising approximately 15% of our ABR, are also
characterized as essential in many states and municipalities, and may remain open for takeout and delivery.
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Lessee—Lease assets and liabilities, grouped by balance sheet line where they are recorded, consisted of the following as of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 (in
thousands):

Balance Sheet Information Balance Sheet Location March 31, 2020  December 31, 2019

ROU assets, net - operating leases(1) Investment in Real Estate $ 3,952  $ 7,613

ROU assets, net - operating and finance leases Other Assets, Net 2,396  2,111

Operating lease liability Accounts Payable and Other Liabilities 6,168  9,453

Finance lease liability Debt Obligations, Net 384  443
(1) During the three months ended March 31, 2020, one of our acquisitions was land upon which one of our shopping centers is situated that was previously subject to a ground lease in which the

lessor controlled an option requiring us to purchase the land subject to the lease. Our valuation of the ROU asset and lease liability as of December 31, 2019 for this ground lease reflected the
assumption that the lessor would exercise this option and that we would purchase the underlying land asset.

4. REAL ESTATE ACTIVITY

Property Sales—The following table summarizes our real estate disposition activity (dollars in thousands):

 Three Months Ended March 31,

 2020  2019

Number of properties sold(1) 3  3

Proceeds from sale of real estate $ 17,447  $ 35,755

(Loss) gain on sale of properties, net(2) (826)  7,399
(1) We retained certain outparcels of land associated with one of our property dispositions during the three months ended March 31, 2020, and as a result, this property is still included in our total

property count.
(2) The (loss) gain on sale of properties, net does not include miscellaneous write-off activity, which is also recorded in (Loss) Gain on Disposal of Property, Net on the consolidated statements of

operations.

Impairment of Real Estate Assets—During the three months ended March 31, 2020, we did not recognize any impairment charges. During the three months ended March 31,
2019, we recognized impairment charges totaling $13.7 million. The impairments were associated with certain anticipated property dispositions where the net book value
exceeded the estimated fair value. Our estimated fair value was based upon the contracted price to sell or the marketed price for disposition, less estimated costs to sell. We
have applied reasonable estimates and judgments in determining the amount of impairment recognized.

Acquisitions—During the three months ended March 31, 2020, we acquired two parcels of land for a total of $4.3 million, both of which are either underneath or adjacent to
shopping centers that we own.

There were no acquisitions during the three months ended March 31, 2019.
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5. OTHER ASSETS, NET

The following is a summary of Other Assets, Net outstanding as of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, excluding amounts related to assets classified as held for sale (in
thousands):

 March 31, 2020  December 31, 2019

Other assets, net:    

Deferred leasing commissions and costs $ 39,667  $ 38,738

Deferred financing expenses 13,971  13,971

Office equipment, ROU assets, and other 20,612  19,430

Corporate intangible assets 4,883  4,883

Total depreciable and amortizable assets 79,133  77,022

Accumulated depreciation and amortization (37,880)  (35,055)

Net depreciable and amortizable assets 41,253  41,967

Accounts receivable, net(1) 52,854  46,125

Accounts receivable - affiliates 972  728

Deferred rent receivable, net 31,572  29,291

Derivative asset 18  2,728

Prepaid expenses and other 14,594  7,851

Total other assets, net $ 141,263  $ 128,690

(1) Net of $6.2 million and $6.9 million of reserves for uncollectible amounts.

6. DEBT OBLIGATIONS

The following is a summary of the outstanding principal balances and interest rates, which include the effect of derivative financial instruments, for our debt obligations as of
March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 (dollars in thousands):

   Interest Rate(1)  March 31, 2020  December 31, 2019

Revolving credit facility(2) LIBOR + 1.4%  $ 34,000  $ —

Term loans(3) 2.01% - 4.59%  1,622,500  1,652,500

Secured loan facilities 3.35% - 3.52%  395,000  395,000

Mortgages 3.45% - 7.91%  322,127  324,578

Finance lease liability   384  443

Assumed market debt adjustments, net   (1,285)  (1,218)

Deferred financing expenses, net   (16,325)  (17,204)

Total    $ 2,356,401  $ 2,354,099

(1) Interest rates are as of March 31, 2020.

(2) The gross borrowings and payments under our revolving credit facility were $55.0 million and $21.0 million, respectively, during the three months ended March 31, 2020. The gross borrowings and
payments under our revolving credit facility were $64.0 million and $86.0 million, respectively, during the three months ended March 31, 2019.

(3) Our term loans carry an interest rate of LIBOR plus a spread. While most of the rates are fixed through the use of swaps, there is still a portion of these loans that is not fixed through a swap, and
thus is still indexed to LIBOR.

In January 2020, we made the final $30 million payment on our term loan maturing in 2021. Following this payment, the next term loan maturity is in April 2022.

In March 2020, we borrowed $34 million on our $500 million revolving credit facility in order to satisfy general operating needs. In April 2020, we borrowed an additional $200
million on our revolving credit facility to meet our operating needs for a sustained period due to the COVID-19 pandemic. As of May 11, 2020, total availability on our revolving
credit facility, net of any letters of credit, was $254.7 million. Our debt is subject to certain covenants, and as of March 31, 2020, we were in compliance with the restrictive
covenants of our outstanding debt obligations.
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The allocation of total debt between fixed-rate and variable-rate as well as between secured and unsecured, excluding market debt adjustments and deferred financing
expenses, net, as of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, is summarized below (in thousands):

   March 31, 2020  December 31, 2019

As to interest rate:(1)    

Fixed-rate debt $ 1,944,511  $ 2,122,021

Variable-rate debt 429,500  250,500

Total $ 2,374,011  $ 2,372,521

As to collateralization:    

Unsecured debt $ 1,656,500  $ 1,652,500

Secured debt 717,511  720,021

Total  $ 2,374,011  $ 2,372,521

    

Weighed-average interest rate(1) 3.3%  3.4%
(1) Includes the effects of derivative financial instruments (see Notes 7 and 12).

7. DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

Risk Management Objective of Using Derivatives—We are exposed to certain risks arising from both our business operations and economic conditions. We principally
manage our exposure to a wide variety of business and operational risks through management of our core business activities. We manage economic risks, including interest
rate, liquidity, and credit risk, primarily by managing the amount, sources, and duration of our debt funding, and through the use of derivative financial instruments. Specifically,
we enter into interest rate swaps to manage exposures that arise from business activities that result in the receipt or payment of future known and uncertain cash amounts, the
value of which are determined by interest rates. Our derivative financial instruments are used to manage differences in the amount, timing, and duration of our known or
expected cash receipts and our known or expected cash payments principally related to our investments and borrowings.

Cash Flow Hedges of Interest Rate Risk—Interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges involve the receipt of variable amounts from a counterparty in exchange for our
making fixed-rate payments over the life of the agreements without exchange of the underlying notional amount.

The changes in the fair value of derivatives designated, and that qualify, as cash flow hedges are recorded in AOCI and are subsequently reclassified into earnings in the period
that the hedged forecasted transaction affects earnings. During the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, such derivatives were used to hedge the variable cash flows
associated with certain variable-rate debt. Amounts reported in AOCI related to these derivatives will be reclassified to Interest Expense, Net as interest payments are made on
the variable-rate debt. During the next twelve months, we estimate that an additional $18.7 million will be reclassified from AOCI as an increase to Interest Expense, Net.

The following is a summary of our interest rate swaps that were designated as cash flow hedges of interest rate risk as of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 (notional
amounts in thousands):

 March 31, 2020  December 31, 2019

Count 8  9

Notional amount $ 1,227,000  $ 1,402,000

Fixed LIBOR 0.8% - 2.9%  0.8% - 2.9%

Maturity date 2020 - 2025  2020 - 2025

The table below details the nature of the gain or loss recognized on interest rate derivatives designated as cash flow hedges in the consolidated statements of operations (in
thousands):

 Three Months Ended March 31,

  2020  2019

Amount of (loss) recognized in other comprehensive income on derivatives $ (44,916)  $ (12,857)

Amount of loss (gain) reclassified from AOCI into interest expense 1,552  (1,504)

Credit-risk-related Contingent Features—We have agreements with our derivative counterparties that contain provisions where, if we default, or are capable of being declared
in default, on any of our indebtedness, we could also be declared to be in default on our derivative obligations. As of March 31, 2020, the fair value of our derivatives in a net
liability position, which included accrued interest but excluded any adjustment for nonperformance risk related to these agreements, was approximately $62.8 million. As of
March 31, 2020, we had not posted any collateral related to these agreements and were not in breach of any agreement provisions. If we had breached any of these provisions,
we could have been required to settle our obligations under the agreements at their termination value of $62.8 million.
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8. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Litigation—We are involved in various claims and litigation matters arising in the ordinary course of business, some of which involve claims for damages. Many of these matters
are covered by insurance, although they may nevertheless be subject to deductibles or retentions. Although the ultimate liability for these matters cannot be determined, based
upon information currently available, we believe the resolution of such claims and litigation will not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial statements.

Environmental Matters—In connection with the ownership and operation of real estate, we may potentially be liable for costs and damages related to environmental matters. In
addition, we may own or acquire certain properties that are subject to environmental remediation. Depending on the nature of the environmental matter, the seller of the
property, a tenant of the property, and/or another third party may be responsible for environmental remediation costs related to a property. Additionally, in connection with the
purchase of certain properties, the respective sellers and/or tenants may agree to indemnify us against future remediation costs. We also carry environmental liability insurance
on our properties that provides limited coverage for any remediation liability and/or pollution liability for third-party bodily injury and/or property damage claims for which we may
be liable. We are not aware of any environmental matters which we believe are reasonably likely to have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.

Captive Insurance—Our captive insurance company, Silver Rock Insurance, Inc. (“Silver Rock”) provides general liability insurance, wind, reinsurance, and other coverage to
us and our related-party joint ventures. We capitalize Silver Rock in accordance with applicable regulatory requirements.

Silver Rock established annual premiums based on the past loss experience of the insured properties. An independent third party was engaged to perform an actuarial estimate
of projected future claims, related deductibles, and projected future expenses necessary to fund associated risk management programs. Premiums paid to Silver Rock may be
adjusted based on these estimates, and such premiums may be reimbursed by tenants pursuant to specific lease terms.

As of March 31, 2020, we had four cash collateralized letters of credit outstanding totaling approximately $9.7 million to provide security for our obligations under Silver Rock’s
insurance and reinsurance contracts.

COVID-19—As of March 31, 2020, we were not aware of any significant liabilities or obligations to waive rent that we have incurred under force majeure or co-tenancy clauses
in tenant leases.

9. EQUITY

General—The holders of common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters voted on by stockholders, including one vote per nominee in the election of our board
of directors (“Board”). Our charter does not provide for cumulative voting in the election of directors.

On May 6, 2020, our Board decreased the estimated value per share (“EVPS”) of our common stock to $8.75 based substantially on the estimated market value of our portfolio
of real estate properties and our third-party investment management business as of March 31, 2020. The decrease was primarily driven by the negative impact of the COVID-19
pandemic on PECO’s non-grocery tenants resulting from social distancing and stay-at-home guidelines and the uncertainty of the duration and full effect on the overall economy.
We engaged a third-party valuation firm to provide a calculation of the range in EVPS of our common stock as of March 31, 2020, which reflected certain balance sheet assets
and liabilities as of that date. Previously, our EVPS was $11.10, based substantially on the estimated market value of our portfolio of real estate properties and our third-party
investment management business as of March 31, 2019.

Shares of our common stock were issued under the DRIP, as discussed below, at the same price as the EVPS in effect at the time of issuance.

Dividend Reinvestment Plan—The DRIP allows stockholders to invest distributions in additional shares of our common stock, subject to certain limits. Stockholders who elect
to participate in the DRIP may choose to invest all or a portion of their cash distributions in shares of our common stock at a price equal to our most recent EVPS.

Stockholders who elect to participate in the DRIP, and who are subject to U.S. federal income taxation laws, will incur a tax liability on an amount equal to the fair value on the
relevant distribution date of the shares of our common stock purchased with reinvested distributions, even though such stockholders have elected not to receive the distributions
in cash.

On March 27, 2020, the DRIP was temporarily suspended. The March 2020 distribution was paid all in cash on April 1, 2020.

Distributions—On March 27, 2020, our Board temporarily suspended stockholder distributions, effective after the payment of the March 2020 dividend on April 1, 2020 as a
result of the uncertainty surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic, including the impact that the pandemic and the measures taken by governmental agencies and tenants in
response to the pandemic are expected to continue to have on our shopping centers and our financial condition, liquidity sources, and capital needs.

Distributions paid entirely in cash to stockholders and OP unit holders of record subsequent to March 31, 2020 were as follows (in thousands, except distribution rate):

Month Date of Record  Distribution Rate  Date Distribution Paid  Amount of Distribution Paid

March 2020 3/16/2020  $0.05583344  4/1/2020  $ 18,541
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Share Repurchase Program (“SRP”)—Our SRP provides an opportunity for stockholders to have shares of common stock repurchased, subject to certain restrictions and
limitations. The Board reserves the right, in its sole discretion, at any time and from time to time, to reject any request for repurchase.

On August 7, 2019, the Board suspended the SRP with respect to standard repurchases. Our SRP for death, qualifying disability, or determination of incompetence was
temporarily suspended effective March 27, 2020.

Convertible Noncontrolling Interests—Under the terms of the Fourth Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership (the “Partnership Agreement”), Operating
Partnership unit (“OP unit”) holders may elect to exchange OP units. The Operating Partnership controls the form of the redemption, and may elect to exchange OP units for
shares of our common stock, provided that the OP units have been outstanding for at least one year, or for cash. As the form of redemption for OP units is within our control, the
OP units outstanding as of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 are classified as Noncontrolling Interests within permanent equity on our consolidated balance sheets. The
distributions that have been paid on OP units are included in Distributions to Noncontrolling Interests on the consolidated statements of equity. During the three months ended
March 31, 2020 and 2019, 0.1 million and 0.7 million OP units were converted into shares of our common stock at a 1:1 ratio, respectively. There were approximately 42.7
million OP units outstanding as of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019. Additionally, certain of our outstanding time- and performance-based equity awards will result in the
issuance of shares or OP units upon vesting in future periods.

10. EARNINGS PER SHARE

We use the two-class method of computing earnings per share (“EPS”), which is an earnings allocation formula that determines EPS for common stock and any participating
securities according to dividends declared (whether paid or unpaid). Under the two-class method, basic EPS is computed by dividing Net Income (Loss) Attributable to
Stockholders by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution that could occur from share
equivalent activity.

OP units held by limited partners other than us are considered to be participating securities because they contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents, and
have the potential to be exchanged for an equal number of shares of our common stock in accordance with the terms of the the Partnership Agreement.

In previous periods, we issued certain share-based awards to employees which are tied to the value of our EVPS, but that are paid in cash upon vesting. We have a small
number of these awards that remain outstanding, however, they are not considered to be participating securities as they are not convertible into common stock, and as such are
not included as a component of our basic or diluted EPS calculation.

The impact of outstanding OP units on basic and diluted EPS has been calculated using the two-class method whereby earnings are allocated to the OP units based on
dividends declared and the OP units’ participation rights in undistributed earnings. The effects of the two-class method on basic and diluted EPS were immaterial to the
consolidated financial statements as of March 31, 2020 and 2019.

The following table provides a reconciliation of the numerator and denominator of the earnings per share calculations (in thousands, except per share amounts):

 Three Months Ended March 31,

 2020  2019

Numerator:    

Net income (loss) attributable to stockholders - basic $ 9,769  $ (5,195)

Net income (loss) attributable to convertible OP units(1) 1,430  (783)

Net income (loss) - diluted $ 11,199  $ (5,978)

Denominator:    

Weighted-average shares - basic 289,955  281,263

OP units(1) 42,848  43,996

Dilutive restricted stock awards 425  —

Adjusted weighted-average shares - diluted 333,228  325,259

Earnings per common share:    

Basic and diluted $ 0.03  $ (0.02)
(1) OP units include units that are convertible into common stock or cash, at the Operating Partnership’s option. The Operating Partnership income or loss attributable to these OP units, which is included

as a component of Net (Income) Loss Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests on the consolidated statements of operations, has been added back in the numerator as these OP units were included
in the denominator for all years presented.

Approximately 2.6 million unvested time- and performance-based stock awards were outstanding as of March 31, 2019. These securities were anti-dilutive for the three months
ended March 31, 2019, and, as a result, their impact was excluded from the weighted-average common shares used to calculate diluted EPS for that period.
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11. REVENUE RECOGNITION AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Revenue—Summarized below are amounts included in Fees and Management Income. The revenue includes the fees and reimbursements earned by us from the Managed
Funds, and other revenues that are not in the scope of ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, but that are included in this table for the purpose of disclosing
all related party revenues (in thousands):

 Three Months Ended March 31,

 2020  2019

Recurring fees(1) $ 1,216  $ 1,582

Transactional revenue and reimbursements(2) 430  1,222

Insurance premiums(3) 519  457

Total fees and management income $ 2,165  $ 3,261

(1) Recurring fees include asset management fees and property management fees.
(2) Transactional revenue includes items such as leasing commissions, construction management fees, and acquisition fees.
(3) Insurance premium income from other parties includes amounts from third parties not affiliated with us.

Certain related party accounts receivable and organization and offering costs payable that were outstanding as of March 31, 2019 related to Phillips Edison Grocery Center
REIT III, Inc. (“REIT III”) and were settled when we merged with REIT III in October 2019.

Other Related Party Matters—We are the limited guarantor for up to $190 million, capped at $50 million in most instances, of debt for our NRP joint venture. We are also the
limited guarantor of a $175 million mortgage loan for GRP I. Our guaranty in both cases is limited to being the non-recourse carveout guarantor and the environmental
indemnitor. We are also party to a separate agreement with our joint venture partner in which any potential liability under our guaranty for GRP I will be apportioned between us
and our joint venture partner based on our respective ownership percentages in GRP I. We have no liability recorded on our consolidated balance sheets for either guaranty as
of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019.

12. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The following describes the methods we use to estimate the fair value of our financial and nonfinancial assets and liabilities: 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Restricted Cash, Accounts Receivable, and Accounts Payable—We consider the carrying values of these financial instruments to
approximate fair value because of the short period of time between origination of the instruments and their expected realization.

Real Estate Investments—The purchase prices of the investment properties, including related lease intangible assets and liabilities, were allocated at estimated fair value
based on Level 3 inputs, such as discount rates, capitalization rates, comparable sales, replacement costs, income and expense growth rates, and current market rents and
allowances as determined by management.

Debt Obligations—We estimate the fair value of our debt by discounting the future cash flows of each instrument at rates currently offered for similar debt instruments of
comparable maturities by our lenders using Level 3 inputs. The discount rates used approximate current lending rates for loans or groups of loans with similar maturities and
credit quality, assuming the debt is outstanding through maturity and considering the debt’s collateral (if applicable). We have utilized market information, as available, or present
value techniques to estimate the amounts required to be disclosed.

The following is a summary of borrowings as of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 (in thousands):

 March 31, 2020  December 31, 2019

 Recorded Principal Balance(1)  Fair Value  Recorded Principal Balance(1)  Fair Value

Revolving credit facility $ 34,000  33,767  $ —  $ —

Term loans 1,607,464  1,594,503  1,636,470  1,656,765

Secured portfolio loan facilities 390,769  384,068  390,780  399,054

Mortgages(2) 324,168  325,219  326,849  337,614

Total $ 2,356,401  $ 2,337,557  $ 2,354,099  $ 2,393,433

(1) Recorded principal balances include net deferred financing expenses of $16.3 million and $17.2 million as of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively. Recorded principal balances also
include assumed market debt adjustments of $1.3 million and $1.2 million as of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively. There are deferred financing expenses related to our revolving
credit facility that are in an asset position and thus are not included in these balances.

(2) Our finance lease liability is included in the mortgages line item, as presented.
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Recurring and Nonrecurring Fair Value Measurements—Our earn-out liability and interest rate swaps are measured and recognized at fair value on a recurring basis, while
certain real estate assets and liabilities are measured and recognized at fair value as needed. Fair value measurements that occurred as of and during the three months ended
March 31, 2020 and the year ended December 31, 2019, were as follows (in thousands):

 March 31, 2020  December 31, 2019

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Recurring        

Derivative assets(1) $ — $ 18 $ —  $ — $ 2,728 $ —

Derivative liability(1) — (62,756) —  — (20,974) —

Earn-out liability — — (22,000)  — — (32,000)

Nonrecurring        

Impaired real estate assets, net(2) — — —  — 280,593 —

Impaired corporate intangible asset, net(3) — — —  — — 4,401
(1) We record derivative assets in Other Assets, Net and derivative liabilities in Derivative Liability on our consolidated balance sheets.
(2) The carrying value of impaired real estate assets may have subsequently increased or decreased after the measurement date due to capital improvements, depreciation, or sale.
(3) The carrying value of our impaired corporate intangible asset, net, which consists of in-place management contracts, subsequently decreased after the measurement date due to amortization as

well as through derecognition as part of the merger with REIT III.

Derivative Instruments—As of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, we had interest rate swaps that fixed LIBOR on portions of our unsecured term loan facilities.

All interest rate swap agreements are measured at fair value on a recurring basis. The valuation of these instruments is determined using widely accepted valuation techniques,
including discounted cash flow analysis on the expected cash flows of each derivative. This analysis reflects the contractual terms of the derivatives, including the period to
maturity, and uses observable market-based inputs, including interest rate curves and implied volatilities. The fair values of interest rate swaps are determined using the market
standard methodology of netting the discounted future fixed cash receipts (or payments) and the discounted expected variable cash payments (or receipts). The variable cash
payments (or receipts) are based on an expectation of future interest rates (forward curves) derived from observable market interest rate curves.

To comply with the provisions of ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurement, we incorporate credit valuation adjustments to appropriately reflect both our own nonperformance risk
and the respective counterparty’s nonperformance risk in the fair value measurements. In adjusting the fair value of our derivative contracts for the effect of nonperformance risk,
we have considered the impact of netting and any applicable credit enhancements, such as collateral postings, thresholds, mutual puts, and guarantees.

Although we determined that the significant inputs used to value our derivatives fell within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, the credit valuation adjustments associated with our
counterparties and our own credit risk utilize Level 3 inputs, such as estimates of current credit spreads, to evaluate the likelihood of default by us and our counterparties.
However, as of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, we have assessed the significance of the impact of the credit valuation adjustments on the overall valuation of our
derivative positions and have determined that the credit valuation adjustments are not significant to the overall valuation of our derivatives. As a result, we have determined that
our derivative valuations in their entirety are classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

Earn-out—As part of our acquisition of Phillips Edison Limited Partnership (“PELP”), an earn-out structure was established which gave PELP the opportunity to earn additional
OP units based upon the potential achievement of certain performance targets subsequent to the acquisition. After the expiration of certain provisions in 2019, PELP is now
eligible to earn up to five million OP units based on the timing and valuation of a liquidity event for PECO, which can occur no later than December 31, 2021 in order for the
performance targets to be achieved per the terms of the agreement.

We estimate the fair value of this liability on a quarterly basis using the Monte Carlo method. This method requires us to make assumptions about future dividend yields,
volatility, and timing and pricing of liquidity events, which are unobservable and are considered Level 3 inputs in the fair value hierarchy. A change in these inputs to a different
amount might result in a significantly higher or lower fair value measurement at the reporting date. In calculating the fair value of this liability, we have determined that the most
likely range of potential outcomes includes a possibility of no additional OP units issued as well as up to a maximum of five million units being issued.

Changes in the fair value of the earn-out liability have been and will continue to be recognized in earnings. The following table presents a reconciliation of the change in the
earn-out liability measured at fair value on a recurring basis using Level 3 inputs and recognized as Other Income, Net in the consolidated statements of operations (in
thousands):

 Earn-Out Liability

Balance at December 31, 2019 $ 32,000
Change in fair value recognized in Other Income, Net (10,000)

Balance at March 31, 2020 $ 22,000

Real Estate Asset Impairment—Our real estate assets are measured and recognized at fair value less costs to sell on a nonrecurring basis dependent upon when we determine
an impairment has occurred. During the three months ended March 31, 2019, we impaired assets that were under contract or actively marketed for sale at a disposition price
that was less
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than carrying value, or that had other operational impairment indicators. The valuation technique used for the fair value of all impaired real estate assets was the expected net
sales proceeds, which we consider to be a Level 2 input in the fair value hierarchy. We did not impair any assets during the three months ended March 31, 2020.

On a quarterly basis, we employ a multi-step approach to assess our real estate assets for possible impairment and record any impairment charges identified. The first step is
the identification of potential triggering events, such as significant decreases in occupancy or the presence of large dark or vacant spaces. If we observe any of these indicators
for a shopping center, we then perform an additional screen test consisting of a years-to-recover analysis to determine if we will recover the net book value of the property over
its remaining economic life based upon net operating income as forecasted for the current year. In the event that the results of this first step indicate a triggering event for a
center, we proceed to the second step, utilizing an undiscounted cash flow model for the center to identify potential impairment. If the undiscounted cash flows are less than the
net book value of the center as of the balance sheet date, we proceed to the third step. In performing the third step, we utilize market data such as capitalization rates and sales
price per square foot on comparable recent real estate transactions to estimate fair value of the real estate assets. We also utilize expected net sales proceeds to estimate the
fair value of any centers that are actively being marketed for sale. If the estimated fair value of the property is less than the recorded net book value at the balance sheet date,
we record an impairment charge.

In addition to these procedures, we also review undeveloped or unimproved land parcels that we own for evidence of impairment and record any impairment charges as
necessary. Primary impairment triggers for these land parcels are changes to our plans or intentions with regards to such properties, or planned dispositions at prices that are
less than the current carrying values.

Our quarterly impairment procedures have not been altered by the COVID-19 pandemic, as we believe key impairment indicators such as temporary store closings and large
dark or vacant spaces will continue to be identified in our review. We have utilized forecasts that incorporate estimated decreases in net operating income (“NOI”) and cash flows
as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic in performing our review procedures for the three months ended March 31, 2020. However, it is possible that we could experience
unanticipated changes in assumptions that are employed in our impairment review which could impact our cash flows and fair value conclusions. Such unanticipated changes
relative to our expectations include but are not limited to: increases or decreases in the duration or permanence of tenant closures, increases or decreases in collectability
reserves and write-offs, additional capital required to fill vacancies, extended lease-up periods, future closings of large tenants, changes in macroeconomic assumptions such as
rate of inflation and capitalization rates, and changes to the estimated timing of disposition of the properties under review.

We recorded the following expense upon impairment of real estate assets (in thousands):

 Three Months Ended March 31,

 2020  2019

Impairment of real estate assets $ —  $ 13,717

13. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In preparing the condensed and unaudited consolidated financial statements, we have evaluated subsequent events through the filing of this report on Form 10-Q for recognition
and/or disclosure purposes. Based on this evaluation, we have determined that there were no events that have occurred that require recognition or disclosure, other than certain
events and transactions that have been disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

All references to “Notes” throughout this document refer to the footnotes to the consolidated financial statements in Part I, Item 1. Financial Statements.

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (this “Report”) of Phillips Edison & Company, Inc. (“we,” the “Company,” “our,” or “us”) other than historical
facts may be considered forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. We intend for all such forward-looking statements
to be covered by the applicable safe harbor provisions for forward-looking statements contained in those Acts. Such forward-looking statements generally can be identified by
the use of forward-looking terminology such as “may,” “will,” “expect,” “intend,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “believe,” “continue,” “possible,” “initiatives,” “focus,” “seek,” “objective,”
“goal,” “strategy,” “plan,” “potential,” “potentially,” “preparing,” “projected,” “future,” “long-term,” “once,” “should,” “could,” “would,” “might,” “uncertainty,” or other similar words.
Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date this report is filed with the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Such statements include, but are not limited to, statements about our focus, plans, strategies, initiatives, and prospects; statements about the
global pandemic of a novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”), including its duration and potential or expected impact on our tenants, our business, and our estimated value per share;
statements about our estimated value per share and when it may be updated; statements about the duration or extent of the suspension of our distributions, share repurchase
program, and dividend reinvestment program; and statements about our future results of operations, capital expenditures, and liquidity. Such statements are subject to known
and unknown risks and uncertainties, which could cause actual results to differ materially from those projected or anticipated, including, without limitation, (i) changes in national,
regional, or local economic climates; (ii) local market conditions, including an oversupply of space in, or a reduction in demand for, properties similar to those in our portfolio; (iii)
vacancies, changes in market rental rates, and the need to periodically repair, renovate, and re-let space; (iv) changes in interest rates and the availability of permanent
mortgage financing; (v) competition from other available properties and the attractiveness of properties in our portfolio to our tenants; (vi) the financial stability of tenants,
including the ability of tenants to pay rent; (vii) changes in tax, real estate, environmental, and zoning laws; (viii) the concentration of our portfolio in a limited number of
industries, geographies, or investments; (ix) the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, including on the demand for consumer goods and services and levels of consumer
confidence in the safety of visiting shopping centers as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic; (x) the measures taken by federal, state, and local government agencies and
tenants in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, including mandatory business shutdowns, stay-at-home orders and social distancing guidelines; (xi) the impact of the COVID-
19 pandemic on our tenants and their ability to pay rent on time or at all, or to renew their leases and, in the case of non-renewal, our ability to re-lease the space at the same or
more favorable terms or at all; (xii) the length and severity of the COVID-19 pandemic in the United States; (xiii) the pace of recovery following the COVID-19 pandemic given
the current severe economic contraction and increase in unemployment rates; (xiv) our ability to implement cost containment strategies; (xv) our and our tenants’ ability to obtain
loans under the CARES Act or similar state programs; (xvi) our ability to pay down, refinance, restructure, or extend our indebtedness as it becomes due; (xvii) to the extent we
were seeking to dispose of properties in the near term, significantly greater uncertainty regarding our ability to do so at attractive prices; (xviii) the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic on our business, results of operations, financial condition, and liquidity; and (xix) supply chain disruptions due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Additional important factors
that could cause actual results to differ are described in the filings made from time to time by the Company with the SEC and include the risk factors and other risks and
uncertainties described in our 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on March 11, 2020, and those included in this Report, in each case as updated from time to
time in our periodic and/or current reports filed with the SEC, which are accessible on the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov.

Except as required by law, we do not undertake any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future events, or
otherwise.

Overview

We are an internally-managed REIT and one of the nation’s largest owners and operators of grocery-anchored shopping centers. The majority of our revenue is lease revenue
derived from our real estate investments. Additionally, we operate an investment management business providing property management and advisory services to approximately
$570 million of third-party assets. This business provides comprehensive real estate and asset management services to the Managed Funds.

During the first quarter of 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic began spreading globally, with the outbreak being classified as a pandemic by the World Health Organization on March
11, 2020. We began preparing for the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business as well as the economic climate as a whole. Our employees are almost entirely
working remotely to help combat the spread of the virus, while also allowing us to be as productive as possible during this time. Some of our initiatives to respond to the ongoing
pandemic are:

• We temporarily suspended stockholder distributions (see Note 9 for more detail);

• We temporarily suspended the SRP for death, qualifying disability, or determination of incompetence, while our standard SRP remains suspended;

• Our Compensation Committee approved a temporary 25% reduction to the base salary of our chief executive officer; a temporary 10% reduction to the base salaries
of our president, chief operating officer, chief financial officer, and general counsel; and a 10% reduction to board members’ base compensation for the 2020-2021
term;
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• We have implemented expense reductions at the property and corporate levels, including the temporary reductions in executive salaries and director compensation,
and workforce reductions;

• We are delaying capital projects to the extent possible; and

• We have borrowed $200 million on our revolving credit facility to ensure that we are able to meet our operating needs for a sustained period.

As a result of the pandemic, many state governments have issued “stay-at-home” mandates that generally limit travel and movement of the general public to essential activities
only and require all non-essential businesses to close. The impact these measures are having on our portfolio has evolved since March 31, 2020 and will continue to do so. Our
wholly-owned properties and those owned through our joint ventures contained approximately 5,550 tenant spaces as of May 11, 2020. The following statistics are related to our
wholly-owned properties and those owned through our joint ventures as of May 11, 2020 (all statistics are approximate; ABR, GLA, and rent include the prorated portion
attributable to properties owned through our joint ventures):

• 30% of all tenant spaces, totaling 21% of our ABR and 16% of our GLA, remained temporarily closed

• Temporary closures include 7% of tenant spaces that we believe are considered to be essential retail and service businesses, totaling 3% of the ABR and 2% of the
GLA associated with all essential retail and service businesses; even though they are generally exempted from “stay-at-home” mandates, some essential businesses
have temporarily closed due to sharp decreases in foot traffic and customer patronage as a result of these mandates and social distancing guidelines

• Received 2,120 rent relief requests from tenant spaces representing 29% of our ABR, all of which are still being evaluated

• Collected 77% of rent and recoveries billed for April 2020 and 74% of rent and recoveries billed for the month of May

We believe substantially all tenants, including those that have been deemed non-essential businesses, are contractually obligated to continue with their rent payments as
documented in our lease agreements with them. The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act, including the Paycheck Protection Program and Health Care
Enhancement Act (collectively, the “CARES Act”), is intended to provide economic relief and stimulus to taxpayers and businesses in order to mitigate the economic impact of
the pandemic, and provides an estimated $2.7 trillion to combat the COVID-19 pandemic and stimulate the economy through the provision of government loans and grants to
affected individuals and businesses. We have begun working directly with our tenants to inform them of the benefits available through the CARES Act and other small business
programs. We have created a resource page on our website to assist in these information efforts.

Portfolio and Leasing Statistics—Below are statistical highlights of our wholly-owned portfolio:

  March 31, 2020

Number of properties 285
Number of states 31
Total square feet (in thousands) 31,862
Leased % of rentable square feet 95.6%
Average remaining lease term (in years)(1) 4.6
% ABR from grocery-anchored properties 97.0%
(1) The average remaining lease term in years excludes future options to extend the term of the lease.

The following table details information for our joint ventures, which is the basis for determining the prorated information included in the subsequent tables as of March 31, 2020
(dollars and square feet in thousands):

 March 31, 2020

Joint Venture Ownership Percentage  Number of Properties  ABR(1)  GLA(2)

Necessity Retail Partners 20%  7  $ 11,933  851

Grocery Retail Partners I 15%  17  24,462  1,909

Grocery Retail Partners II 10%  3  3,840  312
(1) We calculate ABR as monthly contractual rent as of March 31, 2020, multiplied by 12 months.
(2) Gross leasable area (“GLA”) is defined as the portion of the total square feet of a building that is available for tenant leasing.
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Lease Expirations—The following chart shows, on an aggregate basis, all of the scheduled lease expirations after March 31, 2020 for each of the next ten years and thereafter
for our wholly-owned properties and the prorated portion of those owned through our joint ventures:

Our ability to create rental rate growth generally depends on our leverage during new and renewal lease negotiations with prospective and existing tenants, which typically
occurs when occupancy at our centers is high or during periods of economic growth and recovery. Conversely, we may experience rental rate decline when occupancy at our
centers is low or during periods of economic recession, as the leverage during new and renewal lease negotiations may shift to prospective and existing tenants.

We continued to meet or exceed average rental rates on expiring leases during the first quarter of 2020 and our leased occupancy remained high as of March 31, 2020 at
95.6%; however, due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, a large number of our tenant spaces have temporarily closed. Most of our grocery tenants remain open and
continue to service their customers during this pandemic; however, many other tenants are either not currently operating or have significantly reduced sales due to government-
mandated social distancing and “stay-at-home” guidelines. We expect increased volatility in new and renewal rental rates until the business environment becomes more stable.

For our wholly-owned properties and the prorated share of those owned through our joint ventures, subsequent to March 31, 2020, we renewed approximately 0.3 million total
square feet and $2.6 million of total ABR of future expiring leases. This includes four anchor leases that were renewed pursuant to the exercise of an option to extend the lease.

See the section below titled Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Results of Operations - Leasing Activity for further
discussion of leasing activity.
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Portfolio Tenancy—We define national tenants as those tenants that operate in at least three states. Regional tenants are defined as those tenants that have at least three
locations in fewer than three states. The following charts present the composition of our portfolio, including our wholly-owned properties and the prorated portion of those owned
through our joint ventures, by tenant type as of March 31, 2020:

The following charts present the composition of our portfolio by tenant industry as of March 31, 2020:
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In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, as of May 11, 2020, 15 states have state-wide “stay-at-home” mandates in place and 26 states have partial mandates in place, with 4
states that we expect to begin lifting mandates in the coming weeks. We estimate that approximately 51.1% of our ABR, including the pro rata portion attributable to our
properties owned through our joint ventures, is from retail and service businesses generally deemed essential under most state and local mandates as of March 31, 2020:

(1) Includes tenants that we believe are considered to be essential retail and service businesses but that may have temporarily closed due to sharp decreases in foot traffic and customer patronage as
a result of “stay-at-home” mandates and social distancing guidelines.
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The following table presents our top twenty tenants by ABR, including our wholly-owned properties and the prorated portion of those owned through our joint ventures, as of
March 31, 2020 (dollars and square feet in thousands):

 March 31, 2020

Tenant(1) ABR  % of ABR  Leased Square Feet  % of Leased Square
Feet  Number of

Locations(2)

Kroger $ 26,877  6.9%  3,466  11.2%  66

Publix 22,019  5.6%  2,241  7.3%  56

Ahold Delhaize 17,496  4.5%  1,278  4.1%  25

Albertsons-Safeway 16,674  4.3%  1,629  5.3%  31

Walmart 8,933  2.3%  1,770  5.7%  13

Giant Eagle 8,085  2.1%  823  2.7%  12

TJX Companies 4,968  1.3%  428  1.4%  15

Sprouts Farmers Market 4,885  1.2%  334  1.1%  11

Dollar Tree 4,194  1.1%  445  1.4%  45

Raley's 3,798  1.0%  253  0.8%  4

SUPERVALU 3,480  0.9%  386  1.2%  8

Subway Group 3,077  0.8%  127  0.4%  92

Schnuck's 2,993  0.8%  329  1.1%  5

Save Mart 2,619  0.7%  309  1.0%  6

Southeastern Grocers 2,599  0.7%  291  0.9%  8

Anytime Fitness, Inc. 2,581  0.7%  173  0.6%  37

Lowe's 2,407  0.6%  371  1.2%  4

Kohl's Corporation 2,255  0.6%  365  1.2%  4

Food 4 Less (PAQ) 2,215  0.6%  118  0.4%  2

Petco Animal Supplies, Inc. 2,099  0.5%  127  0.4%  11

 $ 144,254  37.2%  15,263  49.4%  455

(1) Tenants are grouped by parent company and may represent multiple subsidiaries and banners.
(2) Number of locations excludes auxiliary leases with grocery anchors such as fuel stations, pharmacies, and liquor stores. Additionally, in the event that a parent company has multiple subsidiaries

or banners serving as tenants in a single shopping center, those subsidiaries are included as one location.

Of our top 20 tenants, TJX Companies and Kohl’s Corporation had announced the temporary closure of all their stores nationwide as of March 31, 2020. As of May 11, certain
TJX Companies and Kohl’s Corporation store locations have begun to reopen. While no other top 20 tenants have announced company-wide closures, certain locations may be
closed due to specific state regulations. We are not aware, at this time, of the bankruptcy or permanent closure of any of the top 20 tenants in our shopping centers. No tenant
represents more than 6.9% of our ABR on a pro-rata basis.
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Results of Operations

Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic

The COVID-19 pandemic did not significantly affect our results of operations for the first quarter of 2020, with the exception of certain items noted in our discussion of results
below. However, the negative impact on our results of operations in the second quarter of 2020 and future quarters could be significant, depending on a number of factors
outside of our control, including the duration and severity of the pandemic; the nature and duration of “stay-at-home” mandates and business shut-downs as well as physical and
social distancing guidelines and recommendations from governmental authorities; the nature and effectiveness of any economic stimulus or relief measures, including the
CARES Act; overall economic conditions on both a macro and micro level, including consumer demand as well as retailer demand for space within our shopping centers; and
the impact of all of the factors above, including other potentially unknown factors, on our tenants’ ability to continue paying rent and related charges on time or at all and tenants’
willingness to renew their leases on the same terms or at all.

The potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic to our second quarter results may be significant and may include reduced revenue from tenant concessions, increased
collectability reserves, decreased recovery rates on expenses, and other unforeseen impacts that may arise in the course of operating during these circumstances. See Item 2.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Overview for our observation of certain of these factors through May 11, 2020. The
duration of the pandemic and mitigating measures, and their economic impact, may cause some of our current tenants to permanently vacate their spaces and/or not renew
their leases, and we may have difficulty leasing these spaces on the same or better terms or at all, and/or incur additional costs to lease the space. Extended periods of vacancy
or reduced revenues could also trigger impairments of our real estate assets. Moreover, we anticipate a reduction in our disposition and acquisition activity, as well as potential
joint venture activities, during the second quarter and potentially for the remainder of 2020. Conversely, the disruption to our workforce upon the emergence of the COVID-19
pandemic has been and is expected to be minimal as the nature of our operations, coupled with our IT infrastructure, allows our employees to successfully work remotely.

We believe that our investment focus on grocery-anchored shopping centers that provide daily necessities will help lessen the negative effect of the pandemic on our business
compared to non-grocery anchored retail shopping centers. We are closely monitoring the occupancy, operating performance, and tenants’ sales in our centers, including those
tenants operating with reduced hours or under government-imposed restrictions. We are also taking action to maximize our financial flexibility by implementing expense
reductions at the property and corporate level, delaying capital projects to the extent possible, drawing on our revolving credit facility, and temporarily suspending monthly
distributions and share repurchases for death, disability, or determination of incompetence.

Summary of Operating Activities

  Three Months Ended
March 31,  Favorable (Unfavorable)

Change

(Dollars in thousands)  2020  2019  $  %

Revenues:        

Rental income  $ 128,466  $ 128,860  $ (394)  (0.3)%

Fee and management income  2,165  3,261  (1,096)  (33.6)%

Other property income  892  648  244  37.7 %

Operating Expenses:         

Property operating expenses  (21,762)  (22,866)  1,104  4.8 %

Real estate tax expenses  (17,112)  (17,348)  236  1.4 %

General and administrative expenses  (10,740)  (13,285)  2,545  19.2 %

Depreciation and amortization  (56,227)  (60,989)  4,762  7.8 %

Impairment of real estate assets  —  (13,717)  13,717  NM

Other:         

Interest expense, net  (22,775)  (25,009)  2,234  8.9 %

 (Loss) gain on disposal of property, net  (1,577)  7,121  (8,698)  (122.1)%

Other income, net  9,869  7,536  2,333  31.0 %

Net income (loss)  11,199  (5,788)  16,987  NM

Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests  (1,430)  593  (2,023)  NM

Net income (loss) attributable to stockholders  $ 9,769  $ (5,195)  $ 14,964  NM

Our basis for analyzing significant fluctuations in our results of operations generally includes review of the results of our same-center portfolio, non-same-center portfolio, and
revenues and expenses from our management activities. We define our same-center portfolio as the 279 properties that were owned and operational prior to January 1, 2019.
We define our non-same-center portfolio as those properties that were not fully owned and operational in both periods owing to real estate asset activity occurring after
December 31, 2018, which includes 24 properties disposed of and five properties acquired. Below are explanations of the significant fluctuations in the results of operations for
the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019:
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Rental Income decreased $0.4 million as follows:

• $3.4 million decrease related to our non-same-center portfolio, namely our net disposition of 19 properties; and

• $3.0 million increase related to our same-center portfolio primarily as follows:

▪ $2.3 million increase in rental revenues primarily due to a $0.23 increase in average minimum rent per square foot and a 1.7% increase in average occupancy;

▪ $2.1 million increase in recovery income largely as a result of higher recoverable real estate taxes and insurance expenses;

▪ $0.6 million increase in temporary and variable rent as well as non-cash adjustments; partially offset by

▪ $2.1 million decrease due to higher adjustments for tenants that have been identified as a credit risk, including as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Fee and Management Income:
• The $1.1 million decrease in fee and management income is primarily due to fees no longer received from REIT III following its acquisition by us in October 2019.

Property Operating Expenses decreased $1.1 million primarily as follows:

• $0.8 million decrease related to our net disposition of 19 properties; and

• $0.3 million decrease related to our same-center portfolio and corporate operating activities.

General and Administrative Expenses:

• The $2.5 million decrease in general and administrative expenses was primarily due to a decrease in estimated performance-based compensation, including
adjustments made as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Depreciation and Amortization decreased $4.8 million primarily as follows:

• $2.2 million decrease related to our net disposition of 19 properties; and

• $1.8 million decrease related to our same-center portfolio, primarily due to intangible lease assets becoming fully amortized by December 31, 2019.

Impairment of Real Estate Assets:

• The decrease in impairment of real estate assets of $13.7 million was primarily due to less disposition activity. Our impairments during the three months ended March 31,
2019 were related to assets under contract or actively marketed for sale at a disposition price that was less than the carrying value, the proceeds from which were or
will be used to fund tax-efficient acquisitions, to fund redevelopment opportunities in owned centers, and for general corporate purposes. We continue to sell non-core
assets and may potentially recognize impairments in future quarters, but such disposition activity will likely be delayed or reduced due to current market conditions as
a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Interest Expense, Net:

• The $2.2 million decrease was largely due to repricing activities executed during 2019. Interest Expense, Net was comprised of the following (dollars in thousands):

 Three Months Ended March 31,

 2020  2019

Interest on revolving credit facility, net $ 216  $ 855

Interest on term loans, net 12,731  14,853

Interest on secured debt 7,350  5,771

Non-cash amortization and other 2,478  3,530

Interest expense, net $ 22,775  $ 25,009

    

Weighted-average interest rate as of end of period 3.3%  3.5%

Weighted-average term (in years) as of end of period 4.7  4.8

(Loss) Gain on Disposal of Property, Net:

• The $8.7 million decrease was primarily related to the sale of three properties with a net loss and associated write-offs of $1.6 million during the three months ended March
31, 2020, as compared to the sale of three properties with a net gain of $7.1 million during the three months ended March 31, 2019 (see Note 4).

25



Other Income, Net:

• The $2.3 million increase was largely due to the change in the fair value of our earn-out liability during the three months ended March 31, 2020 as compared to the same
period in 2019. Other Income, Net was comprised of the following (dollars in thousands):

 Three Months Ended March 31,

 2020  2019

Change in fair value of earn-out liability $ 10,000  $ 7,500

Equity in loss of unconsolidated joint ventures (280)  (456)

Transaction and acquisition expenses (45)  (88)

Federal, state, and local income tax expense (29)  —

Other 223  580

Other income, net $ 9,869  $ 7,536

Leasing Activity—The average rent per square foot and cost of executing leases fluctuates based on the tenant mix, size of the leased space, and lease term. Leases with
national and regional tenants generally require a higher cost per square foot to execute than those with local tenants. However, generally such national and regional tenants will
also pay higher rates for a longer term.

Below is a summary of leasing activity for our wholly-owned properties for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019:

  Total Deals(1)  Inline Deals(1)(2)

  2020  2019  2020  2019

New leases:         

Number of leases  87  107  77  103

Square footage (in thousands)  382  323  180  252

ABR (in thousands)  $ 5,563  $ 4,878  $ 3,214  $ 4,167

ABR per square foot  $ 14.56  $ 15.08  $ 17.84  $ 16.54

Cost per square foot of executing new leases(3)  $ 22.03  $ 27.61  $ 27.94  $ 27.95

Number of comparable leases(4)  25  40  25  38

Comparable rent spread(5)  6.8%  17.2%  6.8%  14.9%

Weighted average lease term (in years)  9.1  7.1  6.6  6.5

Renewals and options:         

Number of leases  127  163  113  152

Square footage (in thousands)  739  688  249  326

ABR (in thousands)  $ 9,720  $ 10,550  $ 5,364  $ 7,106

ABR per square foot  $ 13.15  $ 15.34  $ 21.53  $ 21.80

ABR per square foot prior to renewals  $ 12.33  $ 14.15  $ 19.18  $ 19.32

Percentage increase in ABR per square foot  6.7%  8.4%  12.2%  12.8%

Cost per square foot of executing renewals and options  $ 3.41  $ 3.25  $ 4.36  $ 5.05

Number of comparable leases(4)  89  130  86  127

Comparable rent spread(5)  11.2%  12.3%  14.4%  13.6%

Weighted average lease term (in years)  4.7  4.8  4.0  4.7

Portfolio retention rate(6)  71.2%  84.4%  67.3%  80.8%
(1) Per square foot amounts may not recalculate exactly based on other amounts presented within the table due to rounding.
(2) We consider an inline deal to be a lease for less than 10,000 square feet of GLA.
(3) The cost of executing new leases, renewals, and options includes leasing commissions, tenant improvement costs, landlord work, and tenant concessions. The costs associated with landlord work

are excluded for repositioning and redevelopment projects, if any.
(4) A comparable lease is a lease that is executed for the exact same space (location and square feet) in which a tenant was previously located. For a lease to be considered comparable, it must have

been executed within 365 days from the earlier of legal possession or the day the prior tenant physically vacated the space.
(5) The comparable rent spread compares the percentage increase (or decrease) of new or renewal leases (excluding options) to the expiring lease of a unit that was occupied within the past twelve

months.
(6) The portfolio retention rate is calculated by dividing (a) total square feet of retained tenants with current period lease expirations by (b) the square feet of leases expiring during the period.
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Non-GAAP Measures

Same-Center Net Operating Income—We present Same-Center NOI as a supplemental measure of our performance. We define NOI as total operating revenues, adjusted to
exclude non-cash revenue items, less property operating expenses and real estate taxes. For the three months ended March 31, 2020, Same-Center NOI represents the NOI
for the 279 properties that were wholly-owned and operational for the entire portion of both comparable reporting periods. We believe Same-Center NOI provides useful
information to our investors about our financial and operating performance because it provides a performance measure of the revenues and expenses directly involved in
owning and operating real estate assets and provides a perspective not immediately apparent from net income (loss). Because Same-Center NOI excludes the change in NOI
from properties acquired or disposed of after December 31, 2018, it highlights operating trends such as occupancy levels, rental rates, and operating costs on properties that
were operational for both comparable periods. Other REITs may use different methodologies for calculating Same-Center NOI, and accordingly, our Same-Center NOI may not
be comparable to other REITs.

Same-Center NOI should not be viewed as an alternative measure of our financial performance as it does not reflect the operations of our entire portfolio, nor does it reflect the
impact of general and administrative expenses, depreciation and amortization, interest expense, other income (expense), or the level of capital expenditures and leasing costs
necessary to maintain the operating performance of our properties that could materially impact our results from operations.

The table below compares Same-Center NOI (dollars in thousands):

 Three Months Ended March 31,  Favorable (Unfavorable)

 2020  2019  $ Change  % Change

Revenues:        
Rental income(1) $ 90,447 $ 89,684  $ 763   
Tenant recovery income 31,036 28,947  2,089   
Other property income 878 613  265   

Total revenues 122,361  119,244  3,117  2.6 %

Operating expenses:        

Property operating expenses 18,281 18,112  (169)   

Real estate taxes 17,155 16,418  (737)   

Total operating expenses 35,436  34,530  (906)  (2.6)%

Total Same-Center NOI $ 86,925  $ 84,714  $ 2,211  2.6 %

(1) Excludes straight-line rental income, net amortization of above- and below-market leases, and lease buyout income.

Same-Center NOI Reconciliation—Below is a reconciliation of Net Income (Loss) to NOI for our real estate investments and Same-Center NOI (in thousands):

 Three Months Ended March 31,

2020  2019(1)

Net income (loss) $ 11,199 $ (5,788)
Adjusted to exclude:

Fees and management income (2,165) (3,261)
Straight-line rental income and expense (2,312) (1,713)
Net amortization of above- and below-market leases (788) (1,133)
Lease buyout income (94) (232)
General and administrative expenses 10,740 13,285
Depreciation and amortization 56,227 60,989

Impairment of real estate assets —  13,717

Interest expense, net 22,775  25,009

Loss (gain) on disposal of property, net 1,577  (7,121)
Other income, net (9,869) (7,536)

Property operating expenses related to fees and management income 646  1,295

NOI for real estate investments 87,936  87,511

Less: Non-same-center NOI(2) (1,011)  (2,797)

Total Same-Center NOI $ 86,925  $ 84,714

(1) Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform with current year presentation.
(2) Includes operating revenues and expenses from non-same-center properties which includes properties acquired or sold and corporate activities.
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Funds from Operations (“FFO”) and Core FFO—FFO is a non-GAAP performance financial measure that is widely recognized as a measure of REIT operating performance.
The National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts (“Nareit”) defines FFO as net income (loss) computed in accordance with GAAP, excluding gains (or losses) from
sales of property and gains (or losses) from change in control, plus depreciation and amortization, and after adjustments for impairment losses on real estate and impairments of
in-substance real estate investments in investees that are driven by measurable decreases in the fair value of the depreciable real estate held by the unconsolidated
partnerships and joint ventures. Adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures are calculated to reflect FFO on the same basis. We calculate FFO Attributable
to Stockholders and Convertible Noncontrolling Interests in a manner consistent with the Nareit definition, with an additional adjustment made for noncontrolling interests that
are not convertible into common stock.

Core FFO is an additional performance financial measure used by us as FFO includes certain non-comparable items that affect our performance over time. We believe that Core
FFO is helpful in assisting management and investors with the assessment of the sustainability of operating performance in future periods. We believe it is more reflective of our
core operating performance and provides an additional measure to compare our performance across reporting periods on a consistent basis by excluding items that may cause
short-term fluctuations in net income (loss). To arrive at Core FFO, we adjust FFO attributable to stockholders and convertible noncontrolling interests to exclude certain
recurring and non-recurring items including, but not limited to, depreciation and amortization of corporate assets, changes in the fair value of the earn-out liability, gains or losses
on the extinguishment or modification of debt, transaction and acquisition expenses, and amortization of unconsolidated joint venture basis differences.

FFO, FFO Attributable to Stockholders and Convertible Noncontrolling Interests, and Core FFO should not be considered alternatives to net income (loss) or income (loss) from
continuing operations under GAAP, as an indication of our liquidity, nor as an indication of funds available to cover our cash needs, including our ability to fund distributions.
Core FFO may not be a useful measure of the impact of long-term operating performance on value if we do not continue to operate our business plan in the manner currently
contemplated.

Accordingly, FFO, FFO Attributable to Stockholders and Convertible Noncontrolling Interests, and Core FFO should be reviewed in connection with other GAAP measurements,
and should not be viewed as more prominent measures of performance than net income (loss) or cash flows from operations prepared in accordance with GAAP. Our FFO, FFO
Attributable to Stockholders and Convertible Noncontrolling Interests, and Core FFO, as presented, may not be comparable to amounts calculated by other REITs.
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The following table presents our calculation of FFO, FFO Attributable to Stockholders and Convertible Noncontrolling Interests, and Core FFO and provides additional
information related to our operations (in thousands, except per share amounts):

 Three Months Ended March 31,
 2020 2019(1)

Calculation of FFO Attributable to Stockholders and Convertible Noncontrolling Interests     

Net income (loss) $ 11,199  $ (5,788)

Adjustments:    

Depreciation and amortization of real estate assets 54,817  59,342

Impairment of real estate assets —  13,717

Loss (gain) on disposal of property, net 1,577  (7,121)

Adjustments related to unconsolidated joint ventures 654  1,055

FFO attributable to the Company 68,247 61,205
Adjustments attributable to noncontrolling interests not convertible
into common stock —  (190)

FFO attributable to stockholders and convertible noncontrolling interests $ 68,247 $ 61,015

Calculation of Core FFO     
FFO attributable to stockholders and convertible noncontrolling interests $ 68,247 $ 61,015
Adjustments:     

Depreciation and amortization of corporate assets 1,410  1,647

Change in fair value of earn-out liability (10,000)  (7,500)

Amortization of unconsolidated joint venture basis differences 467  344

Loss on extinguishment or modification of debt, net 73  —

Transaction and acquisition expenses 45  88

Core FFO $ 60,242 $ 55,594

    

FFO Attributable to Stockholders and Convertible Noncontrolling Interests per share and Core FFO per share    

Weighted-average common shares outstanding - diluted(2) 333,228  325,922
FFO attributable to stockholders and convertible noncontrolling interests
per share - diluted $ 0.20 $ 0.19
Core FFO per share - diluted $ 0.18 $ 0.17
(1) Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform with current year presentation.  
(2) Restricted stock awards were dilutive to FFO Attributable to Stockholders and Convertible Noncontrolling Interests and Core FFO for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, and,

accordingly, their impact was included in the weighted-average common shares used to calculate diluted FFO Attributable to Stockholders and Convertible Noncontrolling Interests per share and
Core FFO per share. For the three months ended March 31, 2019, restricted stock awards with a weighted-average impact of 0.7 million shares had an anti-dilutive effect upon the calculation of
earnings per share, as further detailed in Note 10, and thus were excluded. As these shares were not anti-dilutive to diluted FFO Attributable to Stockholders and Convertible Noncontrolling
Interests and Core FFO per share, they are included here.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

General—Aside from standard operating expenses, we expect our principal cash demands to be for:

• principal and interest payments on our outstanding indebtedness;
• cash distributions to stockholders to comply with REIT requirements;
• capital expenditures and leasing costs;
• investments in real estate; and
• redevelopment and repositioning projects.

We expect our primary sources of liquidity to be:

• operating cash flows;
• proceeds from debt financings, including borrowings under our unsecured revolving credit facility;
• proceeds received from the disposition of properties;
• distributions received from joint ventures;
• available, unrestricted cash and cash equivalents; and
• reinvested distributions once distributions to stockholders and thus the DRIP are reactivated/reinstated.

We anticipate that cash from operations may be reduced at least in the near term as a result of the immediate impact of the COVID-19 pandemic as we may temporarily
experience reduced cash payments and/or revenue from tenants. Additionally,
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our cash from financing activities will be impacted by actions taken to preserve liquidity, as we have temporarily suspended our distributions, the DRIP, and the SRP for death,
qualifying disability, or determination of incompetence (standard SRP repurchases remain suspended). We are monitoring events closely and managing our cash usage, which
also includes delaying capital spending and redevelopment where possible as well as reducing other property and corporate expenses. At this time, we believe our current
sources of liquidity, most significantly our operating cash flows and borrowing availability on our revolving credit facility, are sufficient to meet our short- and long-term cash
demands.

Debt—The following table summarizes information about our debt as of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 (dollars in thousands):

   March 31, 2020  December 31, 2019

Total debt obligations, gross $ 2,374,011  $ 2,372,521

Weighted average interest rate at end of period 3.3%  3.4%

Weighted average term (in years) at end of period 4.7  5.0

    

Revolving credit facility capacity $ 500,000  $ 500,000

Revolving credit facility availability(1) 454,705  489,805

Revolving credit facility maturity(2) October 2021  October 2021
(1) Net of any outstanding balance and letters of credit.
(2) The revolving credit facility has an additional option to extend the maturity to October 2022, with its execution being subject to compliance with certain terms included in the loan agreement,

including the absence of any defaults and the payment of relevant fees. As of March 31, 2020, we were in compliance with these terms and expect to be in compliance over the next twelve months.

In January 2020, we paid down $30.0 million of term loan debt maturing in 2021 using proceeds from property dispositions in 2019. Following this repayment, our next term loan
maturity is in April 2022. In March 2020, we borrowed $34 million on our $500 million revolving credit facility in order to satisfy general operating needs. In April 2020, we
borrowed an additional $200 million on our revolving credit facility to meet our operating needs for a sustained period due to the COVID-19 pandemic. To the extent we continue
to maintain a balance on our revolving credit facility, our interest expense will be higher in future quarters. As of May 11, 2020, total availability on our revolving credit facility, net
of any letters of credit, was $254.7 million.

Our debt is subject to certain covenants, and as of March 31, 2020, we were in compliance with the restrictive covenants of our outstanding debt obligations. We expect to
continue to meet the requirements of our debt covenants over the next twelve months.

We believe our debt to total enterprise value and debt covenant compliance as of March 31, 2020 allows us access to future borrowings as needed in the near term. The
following table presents our calculation of net debt to total enterprise value, inclusive of our prorated portion of net debt and cash and cash equivalents owned through our joint
ventures, as of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 (dollars in thousands):

 March 31, 2020  December 31, 2019

Net debt:    

Total debt, excluding market adjustments and deferred financing expenses $ 2,421,098  $ 2,421,520

Less: Cash and cash equivalents 37,445  18,376

Total net debt $ 2,383,653  $ 2,403,144

Enterprise value:    

Total net debt $ 2,383,653  $ 2,403,144

Total equity value(1) 2,914,555  3,682,161

Total enterprise value $ 5,298,208  $ 6,085,305

   

Net debt to total enterprise value 45.0%  39.5%

(1) Total equity value is calculated as the number of common shares and OP units outstanding multiplied by the EVPS as of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively. There were 333.1
million diluted shares outstanding with an EVPS of $8.75 and 331.7 million diluted shares outstanding with an EVPS of $11.10 as of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively.

Capital Expenditures and Redevelopment Activity—We make capital expenditures during the course of normal operations, which include maintenance capital expenditures
and tenant improvements as well as value-enhancing anchor space repositioning and redevelopment, ground-up outparcel development, and other accretive projects. Currently,
we are delaying all capital projects to the extent possible in order to maximize our available capital in response to the uncertainty around the duration and negative impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic.

During the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, we had capital spend of $16.0 million and $8.6 million, respectively. Our capital spend during the three months ended
March 31, 2020 included development and redevelopment spend of $8.8 million primarily related to projects originating in 2019. These projects have an estimated total
remaining spend of $30.8 million, of which $4.1 million of expected spend in 2020 has been paused due to the delay in capital projects as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.
Upon resumption of increased capital expenditures, we anticipate that obligations related to capital improvements as well as redevelopment and development can be met with
cash flows from operations, cash flows from dispositions, or borrowings on our unsecured revolving line of credit.
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Merger and Acquisition Activity—We continually monitor the commercial real estate market for properties that have future growth potential, are located in attractive
demographic markets, and support our business objectives. Given the uncertainty around the COVID-19 pandemic as well as the resulting market conditions, we expect a lower
volume of acquisition activity for the remainder of 2020. During the three months ended March 31, 2020, we acquired two parcels of land, as described in Note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements, for a total cash outlay of $4.3 million. We did not acquire any properties during the same period in 2019.

Disposition and Contribution Activity—We are actively evaluating our portfolio of assets for opportunities to make strategic dispositions of assets that no longer meet our
growth and investment objectives or assets that have stabilized in order to capture their value. We expect to continue to make strategic dispositions during 2020, though it is
possible that our disposition activity, including any activity to expand our investment management business through seeded joint ventures, may be delayed or otherwise
disrupted depending on the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. The following table highlights our property dispositions for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019
(dollars and square feet in thousands):

 Three Months Ended March 31,

 2020  2019

Number of properties sold 3  3

GLA 264  281

Proceeds from the sale of real estate $ 17,447  $ 35,755

(Loss) gain on sale of properties, net(1) (826)  7,399
(1) The (loss) gain on sale of properties, net does not include miscellaneous write-off activity, which is also recorded in (Loss) Gain on Disposal of Property, Net on the consolidated statements of

operations.
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Distributions—Distributions to our common stockholders and OP unit holders, including key financial metrics for comparison purposes, for the three months ended March 31,
2020 and 2019, are as follows (in thousands):

 Cash distributions to OP unit holders   Net cash provided by operating activities

 Cash distributions to common stockholders
 

 FFO attributable to stockholders and nonconvertible
noncontrolling interests(1)

 Distributions reinvested through the DRIP    
(1) See Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Non-GAAP Measures - Funds from Operations and Modified Funds from Operations

for the definition of FFO, for information regarding why we present FFO, as well as for a reconciliation of this non-GAAP financial measure to Net Income (Loss).

We paid distributions monthly of $0.05583344 per share for the months of January, February, and March 2020. The timing and amount of distributions is determined by our
Board and is influenced in part by our intention to comply with REIT requirements of the Internal Revenue Code, as well as our results of operations, our general financial
condition, general economic conditions, and other factors. 

To maintain our qualification as a REIT, we must make aggregate annual distributions to our stockholders of at least 90% of our REIT taxable income (which is computed without
regard to the dividends paid deduction or net capital gain, and which does not necessarily equal net income (loss) as calculated in accordance with GAAP). We generally will not
be subject to U.S. federal income tax on the income that we distribute to our stockholders each year due to meeting the REIT qualification requirements. However, we may be
subject to certain state and local taxes on our income, property, or net worth and to federal income and excise taxes on our undistributed income.

We have not established a minimum distribution level, and our charter does not require that we make distributions to our stockholders.

On March 27, 2020, our Board temporarily suspended stockholder distributions, effective after the payment of the March 2020 dividend on April 1, 2020. The DRIP was also
temporarily suspended, and the March 2020 distribution paid on April 1, 2020 was paid all in cash. In August 2019, our Board suspended the SRP with respect to standard
repurchases. On March 27, 2020, our Board temporarily suspended the SRP for death, qualifying disability, or determination of incompetence. In determining to suspend the
payment of distributions and the operation of the DRIP and the SRP, the Board considered various factors, including the impact that the COVID-19 pandemic and the measures
taken by governmental agencies and tenants in response
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to the COVID-19 pandemic are expected to continue to have on our shopping centers and our financial condition, liquidity sources, and capital needs.

Cash Flow Activities—As of March 31, 2020, we had cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash of $84.6 million, a net cash decrease of $10.5 million during the three
months ended March 31, 2020.

Below is a summary of our cash flow activity for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 (dollars in thousands):

 Three Months Ended March 31,     
 2020  2019  $ Change  % Change

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 35,613  $ 41,244  $ (5,631)  (13.7)%

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (2,413)  28,378  (30,791)  (108.5)%

Net cash used in financing activities (43,733)  (67,168)  23,435  (34.9)%

Operating Activities—Our net cash provided by operating activities was primarily impacted by the following:
• Property operations and working capital—Most of our operating cash comes from rental and tenant recovery income and is offset by property operating expenses, real

estate taxes, and general and administrative costs. Our change in cash flows from property operations is primarily due to fluctuations in working capital accounts
attributable to slightly lower cash receipts at the end of March during the normal course of our property operations.

• Fee and management income—We also generate operating cash from our third-party investment management business, pursuant to various management and
advisory agreements between us and the Managed Funds. Our fee and management income was $2.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2020, a decrease of
$1.1 million as compared to the same period in 2019, primarily due to fee and management income no longer received from REIT III following its acquisition by us in
October 2019.

• Cash paid for interest—During the three months ended March 31, 2020, we paid $20.3 million for interest, a decrease of $1.4 million over the same period in 2019 largely
due to our repricing activity executed during 2019.

Investing Activities—Our net cash (used in) provided by investing activities was primarily impacted by the following:
• Real estate acquisitions—During the three months ended March 31, 2020, we acquired two parcels of land, as described in Note 4 to the consolidated financial

statements, for a total cash outlay of $4.3 million. We did not acquire any properties during the same period in 2019.

• Real estate dispositions—During the three months ended March 31, 2020, we disposed of three properties for a net cash inflow of $17.4 million, as compared to three
property dispositions for a net cash inflow of $35.8 million during the same period in 2019.

• Capital expenditures—We invest capital into leasing our properties and maintaining or improving the condition of our properties. During the three months ended
March 31, 2020, we paid $16.0 million for capital expenditures, an increase of $7.4 million over the same period in 2019, primarily driven by our investment in value-
added redevelopment and new development in our existing centers during the three months ended March 31, 2020.

Financing Activities—Our net cash used in financing activities was primarily impacted by the following:
• Debt borrowings and payments—Cash from financing activities is primarily affected by inflows from borrowings and outflows from payments on debt. As our debt

obligations mature, we intend to refinance the remaining balance, if possible, or pay off the balances at maturity using proceeds from operations and/or corporate-level
debt. During the three months ended March 31, 2020, we had net borrowings of $1.5 million, primarily as a result of drawing $34.0 million on our revolving credit facility,
offset by a pay down in January 2020 of $30.0 million on term loan debt maturing in 2021. During the three months ended March 31, 2019 our net borrowings decreased
$24.4 million primarily as a result of payments on our revolving credit facility, funded by cash inflows from the disposition of properties.

• Distributions to stockholders and OP unit holders—Cash used for distributions to common stockholders and OP unit holders increased $2.8 million for the three months
ended March 31, 2020, primarily due to an increase in shares outstanding as compared to the same period in 2019.

• Share repurchases—Cash outflows for share repurchases decreased by $0.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2020 as compared to the same period in 2019
due to the suspension of the SRP for death, qualifying disability, or determination of incompetence which became effective March 27, 2020.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on March 11, 2020, contains a description of our critical accounting policies and estimates, including those relating to
real estate acquisitions, rental income, and the valuation of real estate assets. There have been no significant changes to our critical accounting policies during 2020.

Because of the adverse economic conditions and uncertainty regarding the negative impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, it is possible that the estimates and assumptions that
have been utilized in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements could change or vary significantly from actual results. Please refer to Notes 2 and 12 for additional
discussion on the potential impact that the COVID-19 pandemic could have on significant accounting estimates as employed per our critical accounting policies.

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, in April 2020, the FASB issued interpretive guidance addressing the accounting treatment of lease concessions stemming from the
pandemic. Under this guidance, entities may make an election to account for lease concessions granted in conjunction with the pandemic consistent with how those
concessions would be accounted for
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under ASC 842 if those enforceable rights and obligations for those concessions already existed within the lease agreement. This accounting treatment may be applied
regardless of whether enforceable rights and obligations for those concessions are explicitly outlined within the lease. As a result, entities that make this election will not have to
analyze each lease to determine whether enforceable rights and obligations for concessions exist within the contract, and may elect not to account for these concessions as
lease modifications within the scope of ASC 842. We continue to assess the impact of this accounting pronouncement.

Please refer to Note 2 for discussion of the impact of other recently issued accounting pronouncements.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

There have been no material changes from the quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk disclosed in Part II, Item 7A of our 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed with the SEC on March 11, 2020.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of March 31, 2020. Based on that evaluation, our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial
Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act) were effective as of March 31, 2020.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

During the quarter ended March 31, 2020, as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, most of our employees began working from home in March; however, these changes to the
working environment did not have a material effect on our internal control over financial reporting. There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

w PART II OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we are party to legal proceedings, which arise in the ordinary course of our business. We are not currently involved in any legal proceedings for which we are
not covered by our liability insurance or the outcome is reasonably likely to have a material impact on our results of operations or financial condition, nor are we aware of any
such legal proceedings contemplated by governmental authorities.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The following risk factors supplement the risk factors set forth in our 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on
March 11, 2020:

If we continue to pay distributions from sources other than our cash flows from operations, we may not be able to sustain our distribution rate, we may have fewer
funds available for investment in properties and other assets, and our stockholders’ overall returns may be reduced.

Our organizational documents permit us to pay distributions from any source without limitation (other than those limitations set forth under Maryland law). To the extent we
continue to fund distributions from borrowings, we will have fewer funds available for investment in real estate properties and other real estate-related assets, and our
stockholders’ overall returns may be reduced.

At times, we may need to borrow funds to pay distributions, which could increase our operating costs. Furthermore, if we cannot cover our distributions with cash flows from
operations, we may be unable to sustain our distribution rate. For the three months ended March 31, 2020, we paid gross distributions to our common stockholders and
noncontrolling interests of $55.8 million, including distributions reinvested through the dividend reinvestment plan (“DRIP”) of $15.9 million. For the three months ended March
31, 2020, our net cash provided by operating activities was $35.6 million, which represents a shortfall of $20.2 million, or 36.2%, of our distributions paid, while our funds from
operations (“FFO”) Attributable to Stockholders and Convertible Noncontrolling Interests was $68.2 million, which represents an excess of $12.4 million, or 22.2%, of the
distributions paid. The shortfall was funded by borrowings. For the three months ended March 31, 2019, we paid distributions of $54.8 million, including distributions reinvested
through the DRIP of $17.7 million. For the three months ended March 31, 2019, our net cash provided by operating activities was $41.2 million, which represents a shortfall of
$13.6 million, or 24.8%, of our distributions paid, while our FFO was $61.0 million, which represents a excess of $6.2 million, or 11.3%, of our distributions paid. The shortfall
was funded by borrowings.
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The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic has had, and could continue to have, a material adverse effect on our and our tenants’ businesses, financial condition,
results of operations, cash flow, liquidity, and ability to satisfy debt service obligations.

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a global pandemic. The COVID-19 pandemic has caused, and could continue to cause, significant disruptions
to the United States and global economy and has contributed to significant volatility and negative pressure in financial markets. The global impact of the outbreak is continually
evolving and, as additional cases of the virus are identified, many countries, including the United States, have reacted by instituting quarantines, restrictions on travel, and/or
mandatory closures of businesses. Certain states and cities, including where our properties are located, have also reacted by instituting quarantines, restrictions on travel,
“shelter-in-place” or “stay-at-home” rules, restrictions on types of business that may continue to operate, and/or restrictions on the types of construction projects that may
continue.

Our retail and services tenants depend on in-person interactions with their customers to generate unit-level profitability, and the COVID-19 pandemic may decrease customer
willingness to frequent, and mandated “shelter-in-place” or “stay-at-home” orders may prevent customers from frequenting, our tenants’ businesses, which may result in their
inability to maintain profitability and make timely rental payments to us under their leases or to otherwise seek lease modifications or to declare bankruptcy. We own properties
across the United States, including properties in states that have been significantly impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. We have a higher concentration of ABR from
temporarily closed tenants in certain states which have implemented stay-at-home and social distancing guidelines and mandates, such as Florida, Texas, California, Illinois and
Georgia. Our wholly-owned properties and those owned through our joint ventures contained approximately 5,550 tenant spaces as of May 11, 2020. As of May 11, 2020,
approximately 1,640, or 30%, of these tenant spaces were temporarily closed, which represented 21% of our annualized base rent (“ABR”) and 16% of our gross leasable area
(“GLA”), including some tenants that we believe are considered to be essential businesses but have temporarily closed due to sharp decreases in foot traffic and customer
patronage as a result of government mandates and social distancing guidelines. Approximately 7% of tenant spaces that we believe are considered to be essential retail and
service businesses, totaling approximately 3% of the ABR and 2% of the GLA associated with all essential retail and service businesses, are included in these temporary
closures as of May 11, 2020. We cannot presently determine when or how many of our tenants will reopen. As of May 11, 2020, we have received 2,120 rent relief requests
from tenant spaces representing approximately 29% of our ABR, all of which are still being evaluated. As of May 11, 2020, we have collected approximately 77% of rent and
recoveries billed for the month of April and approximately 74% of rent and recoveries billed for the month of May. We currently anticipate the above circumstances to negatively
impact our revenues for the second quarter of 2020 and potentially for the remainder of the year.

Moreover, the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and restrictions intended to prevent and mitigate its spread could have additional adverse effects on our business, including with
regards to:

• the ability and willingness of our tenants to renew their leases upon expiration, our ability to re-lease the properties on the same or better terms in the event of
nonrenewal or in the event we exercise our right to replace an existing tenant, and obligations we may incur in connection with the replacement of an existing tenant,
particularly in light of the adverse impact to the financial health of many retailers and service providers that has occurred and continues to occur as a result of the
COVID-19 pandemic and the significant uncertainty as to when and the conditions under which potential tenants will be able to operate physical retail locations in the
future;

• a potential sustained or permanent increase in online shopping instead of shopping at physical retail properties, thereby reducing demand for space in our shopping
centers and possible related reductions in rent or increased costs to lease space;

• the adverse impact of current economic conditions on the market value of our real estate portfolio and our third-party investment management business, and
consequently on the estimated value per share (“EVPS”) of our common stock;

• the adverse impact of the current economic conditions on our ability to effect a liquidity event at an attractive price or at all in the near term and for a potentially lengthy
period of time;

• to the extent we were seeking to sell properties in the near term, significantly greater uncertainty regarding our ability to do so at attractive prices or at all;
• anticipated returns from development and redevelopment projects, which have been temporarily delayed to the extent possible;
• the broader impact of the severe economic contraction due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the resulting increase in unemployment that has occurred in the short-term

and its effect on consumer behavior, and negative consequences that will occur if these trends are not timely reversed;
• state, local, or industry-initiated efforts, such as a rent freeze for tenants or a suspension of a landlord’s ability to enforce evictions, which may affect our ability to

collect rent or enforce remedies for the failure to pay rent;
• severe disruption and instability in the global financial markets or deteriorations in credit and financing conditions, which could make it difficult for us to access debt

and equity capital on attractive terms, or at all, and impact our ability to fund business operations and activities and repay liabilities on a timely basis;
• our ability to pay down, refinance, restructure, or extend our indebtedness as it becomes due, and our potential inability to comply with the financial covenants of our

credit facility and other debt agreements, which could result in a default and potential acceleration of indebtedness and impact our ability to make additional
borrowings under our credit facility or otherwise in the future; and

• a potential reduction in our operating effectiveness as employees work remotely or if key personnel become unavailable due to illness or other personal circumstances
related to the COVID-19 pandemic.

We have temporarily suspended stockholder distributions in an effort to preserve cash due to current economic uncertainty and we may choose to do the same in the future.
Additionally, we may in the future choose to pay distributions in shares of
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our common stock rather than solely in cash, which may result in our stockholders having a tax liability with respect to such distributions that exceeds the amount of cash
received, if any.

While the rapid developments regarding the COVID-19 pandemic preclude any prediction as to its ultimate adverse impact, the current economic, political, and social
environment presents material risks and uncertainties with respect to our and our tenants’ business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, liquidity, and ability to
satisfy debt service obligations. Moreover, to the extent any of these risks and uncertainties adversely impact us in the ways described above or otherwise, they may also have
the effect of heightening many of the other risks described under the section entitled “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in our most recent annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2019.

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

Share Repurchases

During the three months ended March 31, 2020, we repurchased shares as follows (shares in thousands):

Period
Total Number of

Shares Repurchased  Average Price Paid per
Share(1)(2)  

Total Number of Shares Purchased
as Part of a Publicly Announced

Plan or Program(1)  
Approximate Dollar Value of Shares
That May Yet Be Repurchased Under

the Program

January 2020 163  $ 10.26  127  (2) 

February 2020 132  10.00  132  (2) 

March 2020 11  10.00  11  (2) 
(1) We announced the commencement of the Share Repurchase Program (“SRP”) in August 2010. It has subsequently been amended, most recently in August 2019. In addition, during the three

months ended March 31, 2020, we repurchased approximately 35,000 shares for an aggregate purchase price of $0.4 million (average price of $11.10 per share) in connection with common shares
surrendered to us to satisfy statutory minimum tax withholding obligations associated with the vesting of restricted stock awards under our equity-based compensation plan.

(2) We currently limit the dollar value and number of shares that may yet be repurchased under the SRP, as described in Part II Item 5 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed March 11, 2020.

Effective March 27, 2020, the Board temporarily suspended the SRP for requests related to death, qualifying disability, or determination of incompetence. The standard SRP
remains suspended.

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION

Executive Officer and Director Compensation

Effective May 18, 2020, owing to the COVID-19 pandemic and its anticipated effect on the Company’s operations, (i) Jeffrey Edison, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,
has agreed to temporarily reduce his base salary by 25% and (ii) our other named executive officers, Tanya E. Brady, General Counsel and Secretary, John P. Caulfield, Chief
Financial Officer and Treasurer, Devin I. Murphy, President, and Robert F. Myers, Chief Operating Officer, each agreed to temporarily reduce their respective base salaries by
10%. In addition, each of the eight independent members of our Board agreed to temporarily reduce their respective annual base cash and equity compensation for the 2020-
2021 term by 10%. Each of these reductions were unanimously approved by the Compensation Committee on May 6, 2020 and will be reevaluated as things develop.

Estimated Value Per Share

On May 6, 2020, the independent directors of our Board decreased the EVPS of our common stock to $8.75. The valuation was based substantially on the estimated “as is”
market value of our portfolio of wholly-owned real estate properties in various geographic locations in the United States as well as our pro rata share of those properties owned
through our joint ventures (collectively, our “Portfolio”) and the estimated value of in-place contracts of our third-party asset management business as of March 31, 2020.

We provide the EVPS to assist broker-dealers that participated in our public offering in meeting their customer account statement reporting obligations under Financial Industry
Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”) Rule 2231. This valuation was performed in accordance with the provisions of Practice Guideline 2013-01, Valuations of Publicly Registered
Non-Listed REITs, issued by the Institute for Portfolio Alternatives (“IPA”) in April 2013 (“IPA Valuation Guidelines”).

We engaged Duff & Phelps, LLC (“Duff & Phelps”), an independent valuation expert that has expertise in appraising commercial real estate assets, to provide a calculation of
the range in EVPS of our common stock as of March 31, 2020. Duff & Phelps prepared a valuation report (“Valuation Report”) that provided this range based substantially on its
estimate of the “as is” market value of the Portfolio and the estimated value of in-place contracts of the third-party asset management business. Duff & Phelps made adjustments
to the aggregate estimated value of our Portfolio to reflect balance sheet assets and liabilities provided by our management as of March 31, 2020, before calculating a range of
estimated values based on the number of outstanding shares of our common stock as of March 31, 2020. The COVID-19 pandemic has impacted the global financial markets.
As of the valuation date, Duff & Phelps attached less weight to previous market evidence for comparison purposes to arrive at opinions of value. Due to a dearth of transaction
activity that takes into account this impact, they were forced to infer conclusions from public market data (stock prices) and other data which are very volatile. They surveyed
market participants on a daily basis to try to glean market inputs, but due to the overall uncertainty of the broader markets, the data points are not widely consistent. The
valuation is, therefore, reported on the basis of “material valuation uncertainty”. Consequently, less certainty, and a higher degree of caution, should be attached to the valuation
than would
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normally be the case. These calculations produced an EVPS in the range of $8.45 to $9.68 as of March 31, 2020, and the independent directors, after discussions with
management, approved $8.75 as the EVPS as of March 31, 2020. We previously established an EVPS on May 8, 2019 of $11.10 based substantially on the same methodology
and process as of March 31, 2019. We expect to review the EVPS at least annually.

The following table summarizes the material components of the EVPS of our common stock as of March 31, 2020 (in thousands, except per share amounts):

 Low  High

Investment in Real Estate Assets:    

Phillips Edison real estate valuation $ 5,135,800  $ 5,536,300

Management company 23,000  23,000

Joint venture properties(1) 87,345  94,290

Total market value 5,246,145  5,653,590

    

Other Assets:    

Cash and cash equivalents 35,437  35,437

Restricted cash 47,866  47,866

Accounts receivable 49,645  49,645

Derivative assets 18  18

Prepaid expenses and other assets 12,009  12,009

Total other assets 144,975  144,975

    

Liabilities:    

Notes payable and credit facility 2,420,714  2,420,714

Mark to market - debt 10,052  10,052

Derivative liability 62,756  62,756

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 82,138  82,138

Total liabilities 2,575,660  2,575,660

    

Net Asset Value $ 2,815,460  $ 3,222,905

    

Common stock and OP units outstanding 333,092  333,092

Net Asset Value Per Share $ 8.45  $ 9.68
(1) Represents our pro rata share of the properties owned by our joint ventures.

Our goal is to provide an estimate of the market value of our shares. However, the majority of our assets consist of commercial real estate, and as with any valuation
methodology, the methodologies used were based upon a number of assumptions and estimates that may not have been accurate or complete. Different parties with different
assumptions and estimates could have derived a different EVPS, and those differences could have been significant. These limitations are discussed further under “Limitations of
Estimated Value per Share” below.

Valuation Methodologies—Our goal in calculating an EVPS was to arrive at a value that was reasonable and based off of what we deemed to be appropriate valuation and
appraisal methodologies and assumptions and a process that was in accordance with the IPA Valuation Guidelines. The following is a summary of the valuation methodologies
and components used to calculate the EVPS.

Independent Valuation Firm—Duff & Phelps was retained by us on February 27, 2020, as authorized by the independent directors of the Board, to provide independent valuation
services. Duff & Phelps, who is not affiliated with us, is a leading global valuation advisor with expertise in complex valuation work. Duff & Phelps had previously provided
services to us pertaining to the allocation of acquisition purchase prices for financial reporting purposes in connection with the Portfolio, for which it received usual and
customary compensation. Duff & Phelps may be engaged to provide professional services to us in the future. The Duff & Phelps personnel who prepared the valuation had no
present or prospective interest in the Portfolio and no personal interest with us.

Duff & Phelps’ engagement for its valuation services was not contingent upon developing or reporting predetermined results. In addition, Duff & Phelps’ compensation for
completing the valuation services was not contingent upon the development or reporting of a predetermined value or direction in value that favors the cause of us, the amount of
the value opinion, the attainment of a stipulated result, or the occurrence of a subsequent event directly related to the intended use of its Valuation Report. We agreed to
indemnify Duff & Phelps against certain liabilities arising out of this engagement.

Duff & Phelps’ analyses, opinions, or conclusions were developed, and the Valuation Report was prepared, in conformity with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal
Practice. The Valuation Report was reviewed, approved and signed by
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individuals with the professional designation of MAI (Member of the Appraisal Institute). The use of the Valuation Report is subject to the requirements of the Appraisal Institute
relating to review by its duly authorized representatives. Duff & Phelps did not inspect the properties that formed the Portfolio.

In preparing the Valuation Report, Duff & Phelps relied on information provided by us regarding the Portfolio. For example, we provided information regarding building size, year
of construction, land size and other physical, financial, and economic characteristics. We also provided lease information, such as current rent amounts, rent commencement
and expiration dates, and rent increase amounts and dates. Property-level cash flow projections were negatively impacted for the estimated effects of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Duff & Phelps did not investigate the legal description or legal matters relating to the Portfolio, including title or encumbrances, and title to the properties was assumed to be
good and marketable. The Portfolio was also assumed to be free and clear of liens, easements, encroachments and other encumbrances, and to be in full compliance with
zoning, use, occupancy, environmental and similar laws unless otherwise stated by us. The Valuation Report contains other assumptions, qualifications and limitations that
qualify the analysis, opinions and conclusions set forth therein. Furthermore, the prices at which our real estate properties may actually be sold could differ from their appraised
values.

The foregoing is a summary of the standard assumptions, qualifications and limitations that generally apply to the Valuation Report.

Real Estate Portfolio Valuation—Duff & Phelps estimated the “as is” market values of the Portfolio as of March 31, 2020 using various methodologies. Generally accepted
valuation practice suggests assets may be valued using a range of methodologies. Duff & Phelps utilized the income capitalization approach with support from the sales
comparison approach for each property. The income approach was the primary indicator of value, with secondary consideration given to the sales approach. Duff & Phelps
performed a study of each market to measure current market conditions, supply and demand factors, growth patterns, and their effect on each of the subject properties.

The income capitalization approach simulates the reasoning of an investor who views the cash flows that would result from the anticipated revenue and expense on a property
throughout its lifetime. Under the income capitalization approach, Duff & Phelps used an estimated net operating income (“NOI”) for each property, and then converted it to a
value indication using a discounted cash flow analysis. The discounted cash flow analysis focuses on the operating cash flows expected from a property and the anticipated
proceeds of a hypothetical sale at the end of an assumed holding period, with these amounts then being discounted to their present value. The discounted cash flow method is
appropriate for the analysis of investment properties with multiple leases, particularly leases with cancellation clauses or renewal options, and especially in volatile markets.

The sales comparison approach estimates value based on what other purchasers and sellers in the market have agreed to as a price for comparable improved properties. This
approach is based upon the principle of substitution, which states that the limits of prices, rents and rates tend to be set by the prevailing prices, rents and rates of equally
desirable substitutes. Duff & Phelps gathered comparable sales data throughout various markets as secondary support for its valuation estimate.

The following summarizes the upper and lower bounds of the average terminal capitalization rates and discount rates that were used to arrive at the estimated market value of
our Portfolio:

 Range in Values

Terminal Capitalization Rate 7.08% - 7.58%
Discount Rate 7.69% - 8.19%

Management Company Valuation—Duff & Phelps estimated the aggregate market value associated with our third-party asset management business using various
methodologies. Duff & Phelps considered various applications of the income approach, market approach, and underlying assets approach, with the income approach
determined to be the most reliable method for purposes of the analysis. The income approach analysis considered the projected fee income earned for services provided
pursuant to various management and advisory agreements over the expected duration of that contract, assuming normal and customary renewal provisions. Such services
include property management services performed for the properties in the Portfolio, as well as property and asset management services for certain unaffiliated real estate
investment portfolios. In performing this analysis, solely fee income related to properties owned as of March 31, 2020 was considered. The income approach also considered a
reasonable level of expenses to support such activities, as well as other adjustments, and a discount rate that accounted for the time value of money and the risk of achieving
the projected cash flows. All other assets and liabilities acquired are short term in nature and therefore the carrying value is considered to approximate the fair value. The result
of the income approach analysis was the aggregate market value of the third-party asset management business, from which an estimated market value of net tangible assets
(liabilities) was subtracted (added), to result in the aggregate intangible value of the management company.

Sensitivity Analysis—While we believe that Duff & Phelps’ assumptions and inputs were reasonable, a change in these assumptions would have impacted the calculations of the
estimated value of the Portfolio, the estimated value of our third-party asset management business, and our EVPS. The table below illustrates the impact on Duff & Phelps’
range in EVPS if the terminal capitalization rates or discount rates were adjusted by 25 basis points and assumes all other factors remain unchanged. Additionally, the table
illustrates the impact if only one change in assumptions was made, with all other factors held constant. Further, each of these assumptions could change by more than 25 basis
points or 5%.
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 Resulting Range in Estimated Value Per Share

 Increase of 25 basis points  Decrease of 25 basis points  Increase of 5%  Decrease of 5%

Terminal Capitalization Rate $8.25 - $9.42  $8.81 - $10.10  $8.13 - $9.31  $8.95 - $10.24

Discount Rate $8.23 - $9.43  $8.81 - $10.07  $8.06 - $9.28  $8.99 - $10.24

Other Assets and Other Liabilities—Duff & Phelps made adjustments to the aggregate estimated values of our investments to reflect our other assets and other liabilities based
on balance sheet information provided by us as of March 31, 2020.

Role of the Independent Directors—The independent directors discussed the valuation process and results with representatives of Duff & Phelps. The independent directors
also discussed the results, the Portfolio, the third-party asset management business, our other assets and liabilities, and other matters with management. Management
recommended to the independent directors that $8.75 per share be approved as the EVPS of our common stock. The independent directors discussed the rationale for this
value with management.

Following the independent directors’ discussion with Duff & Phelps and the recommendation of management, and in light of other factors considered by the independent
directors, the independent directors concluded that the range in EVPS of $8.45 to $9.68 was appropriate. The independent directors agreed to accept the recommendation of
management and approved $8.75 as the EVPS of our common stock as of March 31, 2020, which determination was ultimately and solely the responsibility of the independent
directors.

Limitations of Estimated Value per Share—We are providing this EVPS to assist broker-dealers that participated in our public offering in meeting our customer account
statement reporting obligations. This valuation was performed in accordance with the provisions of the IPA Valuation Guidelines. As with any valuation methodology, the
methodologies used were based upon a number of estimates and assumptions that may not have been accurate or complete. Different parties with different assumptions and
estimates could have derived a different EVPS, and this difference could have been significant. The EVPS is not audited and does not represent a determination of the fair value
of our assets or liabilities based on accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”), nor does it represent a liquidation value of our assets and liabilities,
the price a third party would pay to acquire us, the price at which our shares of common stock would trade in secondary markets, or the amount at which our shares of common
stock would trade on a national securities exchange.

Accordingly, we can give no assurance that:
• our shares would trade at or near the EVPS if listed on a national securities exchange;
• a stockholder would be able to resell his or her shares at the EVPS;
• a stockholder would ultimately realize distributions per share equal to the EVPS upon a liquidation of our assets and settlement of our liabilities;
• a stockholder would receive an amount per share equal to the EVPS upon a sale of the Company;
• a third party would offer the EVPS in an arm’s-length transaction to purchase all or substantially all of our shares of common stock;
• another independent third-party appraiser or third-party valuation firm would agree with our EVPS; or
• the methodologies used to calculate our EVPS would be acceptable to FINRA for use on customer account statements or that the EVPS will satisfy the applicable

annual valuation requirements under ERISA.

Further, aside from estimates regarding the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, we have not made any adjustments to the valuation of our EVPS for the impact of other
transactions occurring subsequent to March 31, 2020, including, but not limited to, (1) acquisitions or dispositions, (2) NOI earned, (3) increases or decreases in our
indebtedness or changes in interest rate swap liabilities, and (4) changes in leases, tenancy or other business and operational changes. The value of our shares of common
stock will fluctuate over time in response to developments related to individual real estate assets, the management of those assets, and changes in the real estate and finance
markets. Because of, among other factors, the high concentration of our total assets in real estate and the number of shares of our common stock outstanding, changes in the
value of individual real estate assets or changes in valuation assumptions could have a very significant impact on the value of our shares of common stock. The EVPS does not
take into account any disposition costs or fees for real estate properties, debt prepayment penalties that may be incurred upon the prepayment of certain of our debt obligations,
or the impact of restrictions on the assumption of debt. Accordingly, the EVPS of our common stock may or may not be an accurate reflection of the fair market value of our
stockholders’ investments and will not likely represent the amount of net proceeds that would result from an immediate sale of our assets.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

Ex. Description
10.1 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for Independent Directors*
31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002*
31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002*
32.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as created by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002*
32.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as created by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002*
99.1 Consent of Duff & Phelps, LLC*
101.1 The following information from the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2020, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible

Business Reporting Language): (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets; (ii) Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss; (iii) Consolidated
Statements of Equity; and (iv) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows*

*Filed herewith.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly
authorized.

 PHILLIPS EDISON & COMPANY, INC.
   
Date: May 12, 2020 By: /s/ Jeffrey S. Edison 
  Jeffrey S. Edison

  
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive
Officer)

   
Date: May 12, 2020 By: /s/ John P. Caulfield 
  John P. Caulfield

  
Chief Financial Officer, Senior Vice President and Treasurer (Principal
Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 10.1

Restricted Stock Award Agreement

Phillips Edison & Company, Inc.

2010 Independent Director Stock Plan

Grantee: [______]

No. of Shares: [______]

May 6, 2020

This Restricted Stock Award Agreement (the “Agreement”) evidences the award of [_____] shares of Restricted Stock (each, an “Award Share,” and collectively, the
“Award Shares”) of the Stock (as adjusted pursuant to Article 9 of the Plan) of Phillips Edison & Company, Inc., a Maryland corporation (the “Company”) to the undersigned
(“you” or the “Grantee”). This award was approved by the Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors and granted on May 6, 2020 (the “Grant Date”). This
grant was made pursuant to the Phillips Edison & Company, Inc. 2010 Independent Director Stock Plan, as amended (the “Plan”), and, in addition to being conditioned on your
service as of the Grant Date, is also conditioned upon your agreement to the terms described below. All of the provisions of the Plan are expressly incorporated into this
Agreement.

1.    Definitions. Capitalized terms in this Agreement shall have the meaning specified in the Plan, unless a different meaning is specified herein. Notwithstanding
anything to the contrary in any prior award agreement granted under the Plan, the definitions in this Section 1 shall apply to all awards granted under the Plan on or prior to the
date hereof and entirely supersede and replace any similar definitions applicable to such prior awards.

(a)    “Change in Control” means and includes the occurrence of any one of the following events (it being the intention of the Company to set forth, interpret and apply
the following provisions in a manner conforming with Section 409A of the Code insofar as applicable):

(i)    any “person,” as such term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the 1934 Act, other than the Company or an Affiliate or a Company employee benefit
plan, including any trustee of such plan acting as trustee, is or becomes the “beneficial owner” (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the 1934 Act), directly or indirectly, of
securities of the Company representing (A) fifty percent (50%) or more of the combined voting power of the Company’s then outstanding securities entitled to vote
generally in the election of directors or (B) fifty percent (50%) or more of the Company’s then outstanding securities on a fully diluted basis, including operating
partnership units of Phillips Edison Grocery Center Operating Partnership I, L.P. (in each case, other than solely as a result of the acquisition by or on behalf of the
Company of its own voting securities);

(ii)     (A) a merger, reverse merger or other business combination or consolidation of the Company or any direct or indirect subsidiary of the Company with
any other corporation other than an Affiliate of the Company, except for a merger or consolidation which would result in the voting securities of the Company
outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to represent (either by remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the surviving entity) at
least fifty percent (50%) of the total voting power represented by the voting securities of the Company or such surviving entity outstanding immediately after such
merger, reverse merger, business combination or consolidation, (B) the complete liquidation or dissolution of the Company;

(iii)    the Incumbent Directors cease for any reason to be a majority of the members of the Board; or

(iv)    a person (or group), other than an Affiliate, acquires (or has acquired, during a 12-month period), assets that have a total gross fair market value of
fifty percent (50%) or more of the total gross fair market value of all assets of the Company immediately prior to such acquisition.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, any transaction involving any vehicle managed or sponsored by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries will not be a Change in Control.

(b)    “Disability” means the Grantee’s inability to perform the duties of the occupation at which he or she was employed or served when such disability commenced by
reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment that can be expected to result in death or can be expected to last for at least twelve (12) continuous
months.

2.    Vesting.

(a)    All of the Award Shares are nonvested and forfeitable.



(b)    So long as your Continuous Status as a Participant has not terminated through May 6, 2021, the Award Shares will become cumulatively vested, nonforfeitable,
and transferable on May 6, 2021 (as may be adjusted pursuant to Article 9 of the Plan).

(c)    Notwithstanding the foregoing, if (i) your Continuous Status as a Participant terminates by reason of death or Disability or (ii) a Change in Control occurs, all
outstanding unvested Award Shares shall become 100% vested upon such cessation of your Continuous Status as a Participant or the occurrence of the Change in Control, as
applicable.

3.    Termination of Service, Unvested Award Shares. If your service with the Company as an independent director ceases for any reason, except as otherwise
specified in Section 2, all Award Shares that are not then vested and nonforfeitable will be immediately forfeited by you and transferred to the Company upon such cessation for
no consideration.    

4.    Restrictions on Transfer.

(a)    Until an Award Share becomes vested and nonforfeitable, it may not be sold, assigned, transferred, pledged, hypothecated, or disposed of in any way
(whether by operation of law or otherwise), except by will or the laws of descent and distribution, and shall not be subject to execution, attachment or similar process.

(b)    You hereby represent and warrant to the Company as follows:

(i)    You understand that the Company may, in its discretion, impose restrictions on the sale, pledge or other transfer of the Award Shares
(including the placement of appropriate legends on stock certificates) if, in the judgment of the Company, such restrictions are necessary or desirable to comply with the 1933
Act, the securities laws of any State or any other law.

(ii)    You are aware that your investment in the Company is a speculative investment that has limited liquidity and is subject to the risk of complete
loss.

(iii)    You are aware that, as a director of the Company, resales and other transfers by you of the Award Shares (even once vested) are subject to
the restrictions and conditions applicable to affiliates under the federal securities laws, including those relating to trading while in the possession of nonpublic material
information.

(c)    Any attempt to dispose of any Award Shares in contravention of the restrictions set forth in Section 4(a) shall be null and void and without effect. The
Company shall not be required to (i) transfer on its books any Award Shares that have been sold or transferred in contravention of this Agreement or (ii) treat as the owner of
Award Shares, or otherwise accord voting, dividend, or liquidation rights to, any transferee to whom Award Shares have been transferred in contravention of this Agreement.

5.    Stock Certificates. You are reflected as the owner of record of the Award Shares as of the Grant Date on the Company’s books. The Company or an escrow agent
appointed by the Administrator will hold in escrow the share certificates for safekeeping, or the Company may otherwise retain the Award Shares in uncertificated book entry
form, until the Award Shares become vested and nonforfeitable and until they may be transferred freely without restriction under this Agreement. Until the Award Shares become
vested and nonforfeitable, any share certificates representing such shares will include a legend to the effect that you may not sell, assign, transfer, pledge, or hypothecate the
Award Shares. All regular cash dividends on the Award Shares held by the Company will be paid directly to you on the dividend payment date. As soon as practicable after
vesting of the Award Shares, the Company will deliver a share certificate to you, or deliver shares electronically or in certificate form to your designated broker on your behalf, for
such vested Award Shares. Upon the request of the Administrator, you shall deliver to the Company a stock power, endorsed in blank, with respect to any Award Shares that
have been forfeited pursuant to this Agreement.

6.    Tax Election and Tax Withholding.

(a)    Currently because you are not an employee of the Company, no income or employment withholding tax must occur with respect to the issuance of, or
vesting of, Award Shares. If this situation should change, you agree to comply with the income tax withholding provisions set forth in the Plan.

(b)    You hereby acknowledge that you have been advised by the Company to seek independent tax advice from your own advisors regarding the
availability and advisability of making an election under Section 83(b) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and that any such election, if made, must be made
within 30 days of the Grant Date. You expressly acknowledge that you are solely responsible for filing any such Section 83(b) election with the appropriate governmental
authorities, irrespective of the fact that such election must also be delivered to the Company when and if the election is made (please see, the instructions and sample election
attached hereto). You may not rely on the Company or any of its officers, directors or employees for tax or legal advice regarding this award. You acknowledge that you have
sought tax and legal advice from your own advisors regarding this award or have voluntarily and knowingly foregone such consultation.

7.    Adjustments for Corporate Transactions and Other Events.

(a)    Stock Dividend, Stock Split and Reverse Stock Split. Upon a stock dividend of, or stock split or reverse stock split affecting, the Common Stock, the
number of Award Shares and the number of such Award Shares that are nonvested and forfeitable shall, without further action of the Administrator, be adjusted to reflect such
event. The Committee shall make



adjustments, in its discretion, and in accordance with Article 9 of the Plan, to address the treatment of the Award Shares as a result of the stock dividend, stock split or reverse
stock split; provided that such adjustments do not result in the issuance of fractional Award Shares. Adjustments under this Section 7 will be made by the Committee, whose
determination as to what adjustments, if any, will be made and the extent thereof will be final, binding and conclusive.

(b)    Binding Nature of Agreement. The terms and conditions of this Agreement shall apply with equal force to any additional and/or substitute securities
received by you in exchange for, or by virtue of your ownership of, the Award Shares, to the same extent as the Award Shares with respect to which such additional and/or
substitute securities are distributed, whether as a result of any spin-off, stock split-up, stock dividend, stock distribution, other reclassification of the Common Stock of the
Company, or similar event, except as otherwise determined by the Administrator. If the Award Shares are converted into or exchanged for, or stockholders of the Company
receive by reason of any distribution in total or partial liquidation or pursuant to any merger of the Company or acquisition of its assets, securities of another entity, or other
property (including cash), then the rights of the Company under this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of the Company’s successor, and this Agreement shall apply to the
securities or other property (including cash) received upon such conversion, exchange or distribution in the same manner and to the same extent as the Award Shares.

8.    Non-Guarantee of Employment or Service Relationship. Nothing in the Plan or this Agreement shall alter your service relationship with the Company, nor be
construed as a contract of employment or service relationship between the Company and you, or as a contractual right of you to continue in the employ of, or in a service
relationship with, the Company for any period of time, or as a limitation of the right of the Company to discharge you at any time with or without cause or notice and whether or
not such discharge results in the forfeiture of any Award Shares or any other adverse effect on your interests under the Plan.

9.    Share Repurchase Program. You hereby agree that during the period you are providing services as an independent director to the Company or its affiliates and
for a period of six (6) months following the end of such service, you will not, without the prior written consent of the Company, participate in the Company’s Share Repurchase
Program (“SRP”). The foregoing sentence shall not prohibit your ability to sell, pledge, transfer, hypothecate, or otherwise dispose of shares of Common Stock in any other
manner permitted under federal and state securities laws. In addition, the foregoing restriction on participation in the SRP shall not apply to repurchase requests in connection
with your death, “Qualifying Disability” (as defined in the SRP), or “Determination of Incompetence” (as defined in the SRP).

10.    Rights as Stockholder. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement with respect to the nonvested and forfeitable Award Shares, you will possess all
incidents of ownership of the Award Shares, including the right to vote the Award Shares and receive dividends and/or other distributions declared on the Award Shares.

11.    The Company’s Rights. The existence of the Award Shares shall not affect in any way the right or power of the Company or its stockholders to make or authorize
any or all adjustments, recapitalizations, reorganizations or other changes in the Company’s capital structure or its business, or any merger or consolidation of the Company, or
any issue of bonds, debentures, preferred or other stocks with preference ahead of or convertible into, or otherwise affecting the Common Stock or the rights thereof, or the
dissolution or liquidation of the Company, or any sale or transfer of all or any part of the Company's assets or business, or any other corporate act or proceeding, whether of a
similar character or otherwise.

12.    Notices. All notices and other communications made or given pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be sufficiently made or given if hand
delivered or mailed by certified mail, addressed to you at the address contained in the records of the Company, or addressed to the Administrator, care of the Company for the
attention of its Corporate Secretary at its principal executive office or, if the receiving party consents in advance, transmitted and received via telecopy or via such other
electronic transmission mechanism as may be available to the parties.

13.    Entire Agreement. This Agreement contains the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the Award Shares granted hereunder. Any oral or written
agreements, representations, warranties, written inducements, or other communications made prior to the execution of this Agreement with respect to the Award Shares granted
hereunder shall be void and ineffective for all purposes.

14.    Amendment. This Agreement may be amended from time to time by the Administrator in its discretion; provided, however, that this Agreement may not be
modified in a manner that would have a materially adverse effect on the Award Shares as determined in the discretion of the Administrator, except as provided in the Plan or in a
written document signed by each of the parties hereto.

15.    Conformity with Plan. This Agreement is intended to conform in all respects with, and is subject to all applicable provisions of, the Plan. Inconsistencies between
this Agreement and the Plan shall be resolved in accordance with the terms of the Plan. In the event of any ambiguity in this Agreement or any matters as to which this
Agreement is silent, the Plan shall govern. A copy of the Plan is provided to you with this Agreement.

16.    Governing Law. The validity, construction and effect of this Agreement, and of any determinations or decisions made by the Administrator relating to this
Agreement, and the rights of any and all persons having or claiming to have any interest under this Agreement, shall be determined exclusively in accordance with the laws of
the State of Maryland, without regard to its provisions concerning the applicability of laws of other jurisdictions. Any suit with respect hereto will be brought in the federal or state
courts in Baltimore City, Maryland, and you hereby agree and submit to the personal jurisdiction and venue thereof.



17.    Headings. The headings in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.

18.    Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the
same instrument.

19.    Electronic Delivery of Documents. By your signing this Agreement, you (a) consent to the electronic delivery of this Agreement, all information with respect to the
Plan and the Award Shares and any reports of the Company provided generally to the Company’s stockholders; (b) acknowledge that you may receive from the Company a
paper copy of any documents delivered electronically at no cost to you by contacting the Company by telephone or in writing; (c) further acknowledge that you may revoke your
consent to the electronic delivery of documents at any time by notifying the Company of such revoked consent by telephone, postal service or electronic mail; and (d) further
acknowledge that you understand that you are not required to consent to electronic delivery of documents.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Agreement to be executed by its duly authorized officer.

PHILLIPS EDISON & COMPANY, INC.

By:                         
Name:    Jeffrey S. Edison
Title:    Chairman & Chief Executive Officer
Date:     May 6, 2020

The undersigned hereby acknowledges that he/she has carefully read this Agreement and agrees to be bound by all of the provisions set forth herein. The
undersigned also consents to electronic delivery of all notices or other information with respect to the Award Shares or the Company.

GRANTEE

                                
Name: [_____]
Date: May 6, 2020



Exhibit 31.1

Certification pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Jeffrey S. Edison, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Phillips Edison & Company, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: May 12, 2020
 

/s/ Jeffrey S. Edison
Jeffrey S. Edison

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

Certification pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, John P. Caulfield, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Phillips Edison & Company, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: May 12, 2020

 

/s/ John P. Caulfield
John P. Caulfield

Chief Financial Officer, Senior Vice President and Treasurer
(Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as Adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Phillips Edison & Company, Inc. (the “Registrant”) for the quarter ended March 31, 2020, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned, Jeffrey S. Edison, Chief Executive Officer of the Registrant, hereby certifies, pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of his knowledge and belief:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Registrant.

Date: May 12, 2020
 

/s/ Jeffrey S. Edison
Jeffrey S. Edison

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 32.2

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as Adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Phillips Edison & Company, Inc. (the “Registrant”) for the quarter ended March 31, 2020, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned, John P. Caulfield, Chief Financial Officer of the Registrant, hereby certifies, pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of his knowledge and belief:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Registrant.

Date: May 12, 2020

 

/s/ John P. Caulfield
John P. Caulfield

Chief Financial Officer, Senior Vice President and Treasurer
(Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 99.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT VALUATION EXPERT

Phillips Edison & Company, Inc.:

We hereby consent to the reference to our name and description of our role in the valuation process of Phillips Edison & Company, Inc. (the “Company”) included in the
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2020, and incorporated by reference into the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-
209506) and the related prospectus included therein. In giving this consent, we do not admit that we are within the category of persons whose consent is required by Section 7
of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

/s/ Duff & Phelps, LLC

Chicago, Illinois

Date: May 12, 2020


